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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRESE

I am pleased to present the annual report of Kingdom Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Kingdom”,

we”, “our” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Year”).

China has cancelled all lock-down restrictions in the first half of
the Year and re-focused on the economic growth. However, geo-
political tension among different countries continued and further
intertwined together. With the backdrop of the over-a-year-long
military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and lIsrael’s military
action in Palestine, causing the disruption of shipment routes near the
Red Sea and heightened shipment costs, we experienced the Year full
of challenges.

As the Chinese old saying goes: Opportunities always come with
threats. Financially, the Group continued to overcome challenges
and has recorded a sales growth of 21.0% during the Year to RMB2.4
billion, with a profit for the Year of RMB162.8 million.

Kingdom has incorporated Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) into our business strategy. We continuously implemented
various environmentally friendly energy saving projects to improve
our operation efficiency, to ensure our sustainable operations and
long-term success. The annual total consumptions of electricity, water,
steam and natural gas of the Group has dropped by 7.0%, 6.1%,
12.5% and 6.8% respectively.

I am also proud to announce that Kingdom has achieved carbon
neutrality in November 2023, which has been independently verified
by SGS. We achieve carbon neutrality by way of various carbon
emission reduction initiatives and by the carbon sequestration effect
generated during the Company’s effort contributed to the cultivation
of fiber hemp. Please refer to ESG report of the Year for further details.
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Looking ahead of 2024, we will continue to adhere to our
development direction of globalisation, process orientation,
standardisation and digitalisation. This is not just a strategic decision
at the corporate level, but also key to adapting to global economic
changes and seizing future opportunities. Through these measures,
we aim to improve operational efficiency, optimize the global supply
chain, enhance customer service quality and ensure that we maintain
a leading position in the fierce market competition.

To show the Group’s appreciation to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) for their trust and support while reserving
resources for the Group’s immediate and future expansion, the
Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend for the
Year of HK$0.09 per ordinary share of the Company (“Share”) (2022:
HK$0.09).

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank the entire staff for their
devotion and contributions in the past year. Further, | would also
like to express my sincere gratitude to the Shareholders and business
partners for their continuous support for the Group.

Ren Weiming
Chairman
Haiyan County, Zhejiang Province, the PRC, 28 March 2024
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Five Year Financial Summary

hFEMBHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out

below.

REVENUE
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses (including
impairment losses on financial assets)

Other expenses

Finance costs

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
Income tax (expense)/credit

PROFIT/ALOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

Non-controlling interests
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Year ended 31 December

HE+_A=1+-HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=HE ECCHF B & ECEE “B-hE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AR®TT NS AREFT AREFT
2,445,428 2,021,055 1,799,690 1,057,426 1,499,560
(2,033,940) (1,634,155) (1,508,105) (950,129) (1,136,293)
411,488 386,900 291,585 107,297 363,267
18,927 54,431 7,136 23,210 23,094
(42,229 (41,532) (34,381) (38,879) (49,453)
(120,646) (118,427) (98,406) (77,601) (82,399)
(9,549) (13,192) (3,803) (16,847) (10,327)
(36,800) (33,852) (39,044) (36,583) (22,148)

= 500 - 11,123 235

221,191 234,828 123,087 (28,280) 222,269
(58,401) (63,020) (32,587) 15,602 (62,163)
162,790 171,808 90,500 (12,678) 160,106
163,611 175,696 88,223 (11,177) 154,941
(821 (3,888) 2,277 (1,501) 5,165

= ==
BEEREE
As at 31 December
®+=ZB=+—H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EZ=HE —EICE _E_—F EIEE “E-hE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEETR AREFT AREBFT ARBFT AREFT

3,283,176 2,904,922 2,789,467 2,646,648 2,741,751
(1,695,964) (1,416,932) (1,438,851) (1,407,013) (1,447,838)
(71,207) (82,002) (84,890) (44,371) (45,689)
1,516,005 1,405,988 1,265,726 1,195,264 1,248,224



Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Year 2023 is a recovery year for the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC” or “China”)
2019 (“COVID-19”). However, geo-political tension among different
countries continued and further intertwined. As the Chinese old

from the coronavirus disease occurred in late

saying goes: opportunities always come with threats.

China has cancelled all lock-down restrictions and focused on
economic growth in 2023. According to the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the gross domestic product (GDP) growth in
China amounted to 5.2% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Year”). The total export of textile yarns, fabrics and related products
from China recorded a drop of 8.3% in value in U.S. dollars during
the Year, according to the statistics of the General Administration of
Customs of the PRC. The market price of cotton increased by 9.4% in
2023 while the selling price of linen yarn has recorded an over 20%
increase during the same period.

According to the statistics of the General Administration of Customs
of the PRC, the total volume of pure linen yarn exports from China
in 2023 was 17,201 tonnes, which recorded a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 20.1%. Kingdom exported 7,955 tonnes of pure
linen in 2023, accounting for 46.2% of the total export volume of
pure linen yarn from China in 2023. For years, the Group has been
focusing on upholding excellent product quality and offering tailored
customer services. As such, the Group has always been a key partner
of major overseas linen fabric and garment manufacturers.

During the Year, the Group’s pure linen yarn exports amounted to
7,955 tonnes (2022: 11,477 tonnes). The Group’s pure linen yarn
export continued to account for more than 40% of the total pure
linen yarn export from China, signifying the Group’s continuous
leading position as the largest pure linen yarn exporter in China for
21 consecutive years.
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B H OARZBE =TT FK8.3% c Z &2 T = 453
TEH BB _£73R9.4% B H T8 ff4) & B R 183
1B20% o
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E4E T4 E OAREA17,201H > B EE T B4
20.1%° B - = FHEMD M HOE%7,955
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o

RER KEBMSG A HOE2%7,9550 (T
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE RO

Revenue of the Group for the Year recorded a year-on-year
increase of approximately 21.0% to RMB2,445,428,000 (2022:
RMB2,021,055,000). Gross profit increased by approximately
6.4% year-on-year to RMB411,488,000 (2022: RMB386,900,000)
and overall gross profit margin dropped by 2.3 percentage
points to 16.8% in 2023 (2022: 19.1%). Profit for the Year was
RMB162,790,000, as compared to RMB171,808,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Basic earnings per Share amounted to
RMBO0.27 during the Year as compared to RMB0.29 in 2022.

To reciprocate the Shareholders for their continuous support of the
Group while reserving resources for further expansions, the Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.09 per Share
for the Year (2022: HK$0.09).

Major Markets and Customers

Being the largest pure linen yarn exporter in China, the Group has
a sales network covering over 20 countries and regions around the
world. In order to timely seize market opportunities, keep abreast of
market trends and deliver comprehensive and efficient services, the
Group has established presence in major overseas linen textile and
consumer markets. The Group currently has one subsidiary in Italy
and agents in Turkey, Portugal, Italy, Lithuania and Korea. The Group’s
subsidiary in ltaly keeps its own inventories so that it can serve
the immediate needs of and tighten its co-operation with high-end
customers in Europe. During the Year, revenue derived from overseas
sales amounted to RMB1,251,191,000, representing approximately
51.2% of the Group’s total revenue. In particular, revenue from
the European Union (“EU”) countries amounted to approximately
RMB468,957,000, representing approximately 19.2% of the Group’s
total revenue, while revenue from non-EU countries amounted to
approximately RMB782,234,000, representing approximately 32.0%
of the Group’s total revenue.

During the Year, the Group’s top five exporting countries are ltaly,

India, Turkey, Portugal and Bangladesh, which accounted for 79.1%
of the Group’s total export revenue during the Year (2022: 80.6%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Domestic sales in China increased by approximately 54.2% during
the Year to RMB1,194,237,000 representing approximately 48.8%
of the Group’s total revenue. In light of the increasing income level,
there have been fundamental changes in the consumption patterns of
the general public in China. Consumers’ concerns have shifted from
purely satisfying practical needs to product quality and the ability
of the product to reflect their personal taste. Linen textiles are not
only anti-bacterial and comfortable, but also highly environmentally
friendly in their production process. Therefore, linen textiles
perfectly suit the taste of new generation consumers who may have
a stronger preference for environmentally friendly and sustainable
products. Many leading domestic and overseas trend-setting brands
and fastmoving fashion brands have now embarked on their own
linen selection. For example, a famous Japanese brand has not only
launched a linen garment line, but has also introduced a tracking
system for the use of its raw materials to allow it and its consumers to
monitor the quality and environmental-friendliness of its products.

EEE WA

FENEAEERERIENA54.2%E AR
1,194,237,0007T > {5 A& E 4B U A £948.8% ° fE
ETEHEBEARBAKE LA HEBEREET
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BMEIAEELRRERERES K@ A G-
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Bl R 9M e % QB 50 R hE ~ RS 14 R KR S B4 HH SR i
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Sales Analysis by Domestic and Overseas Markets

EAINTIBHE D
Year-on-year Year-on-year
For the year ended 31 For the year ended 31 changein  change in
December 2023 December 2022 revenue revenue
BECE-= S — WA LN
+ZAZ+-ALEE +ZA=+-HLFE RFEH ‘KRFEP
RMB '000 %  RMB'000 %  RMB 000 %
AREFR % ARETT % AR®TT %
China i 1,194,237 48.8% 774,455 38.3% 419,782 +54.2%
European Union B 468,957 19.2% 552,726 27.3% (83,769) -15.2%
Non-European Union  JFEREH 782,234 320% 693,874 34.3% 88,360  +12.7%
Total Revenue BIA 2,445,428 100.0% 2,021,055 100.0% 424,373 +21.0%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE RO

Raw Material Procurement and Related Strategies

During the Year, market prices of fibre flax, the major raw material
in producing linen yarn surged and reached a historical high level.
The Group mainly sources its fibre flax from well-established origins
such as France and Belgium. Being one of the largest buyers in these
regions, the Group enjoys strong bargaining power when dealing
with suppliers. Furthermore, the Group has formulated systematic
procurement strategies based on which the Group will procure raw
materials according to the level of fibre flax harvest, the Group’s
inventory and the market prices of fibre flax so as to stabilise its raw
material costs, taking into consideration the overall market demand
and supply and to minimize the impact of the price fluctuations of
raw materials.

The Group also procures industrial hemp fibre for production
of hemp yarn in its factory in Heilongjiang, China. Kingdom
collaborates with local farmers to secure a stable supply of hemp fibre
in China with the aim to further stabilise the price and supply of raw
materials. The Group is also building a warehouse in Heilongjiang
to manage the storage, logistics and supply chain of hemp materials
with a vision to transform Heilongjiang into a national trading hub of
hemp materials in China.

The Group is also collaborating with CottonConnect, a UK non-profit
and social-oriented enterprise with a clear mission to transform the
linen industry for good, to develop the REEL Linen Code of Conduct.
REEL Linen is a sustainability-driven initiative for brands which are
committed to sourcing more sustainable linen, and contents of the
initiative include improving the environment, product quality and
traceability conditions in their supply chain factories and farms
worldwide. REEL stands for the idea of “Responsible Environment,
Enhanced Livelihood”, it implements sustainable development into
production practices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Production Bases and Productivity

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had four production bases in
China and one production base in Ethiopia. The Group’s production
bases are continuously under improvement. New production bases
are equipped with the latest management systems, technologies and
equipment, a combination of which has resulted in smooth operation
and reduced unnecessary procedures and wastage of raw materials,
improving the Group’s overall production efficiency. These systems
have not only made the production processes more environmentally
friendly, but have also reduced the production costs of the Group and
laid a solid foundation of profit growth for the Group in the long run.
For further details of the measures taken by the Group in relation to
environmental protection, please refer to the separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Group for the Year, which is
expected to be despatched together with the annual report of the
Company for the Year before the end of April 2024.

China

The Group’s production base in Rugao City, Jiangsu Province, the
PRC has an annual production capacity of 6,000 tonnes. Two other
production bases are located in Haiyan County, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC. The first Haiyan plant has an annual production capacity of
7,000 tonnes and the second Haiyan plant has an annual production
capacity of 5,000 tonnes. The Group has established a fourth
production facility in Heilongjiang Province in China with an annual
capacity of 5,000 tonnes for flax and industrial hemp yarn. Currently,
the designated annual linen and industrial hemp yarn production
capacity of the Group amounts to 23,000 tonnes based on
standardized 24Nm specification. During the Year, the utilization of
the four production bases in China was high and the four production
bases operated at near full capacity.

The Group owns 78.67% equity interest in the flax and industrial
hemp yarn manufacturing facility in Heilongjiang and it is the
Group’s maiden attempt to explore the industrial hemp yarn market,
as the Company believes industrial hemp yarn market will grow
rapidly in the next few years due to the national policy in China to
promote the planting of industrial hemp in the Heilongjiang region
and the use of the industrial hemp textile products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE RO

Ethiopia

The Group is also committed to investing in Ethiopia for new
production facilities and has acquired a parcel of land with a site area
of 300,000 square meters located in Adama Industrial Park, Adama,
Ethiopia. The phase one development of this land parcel has further
boosted the annual production capacity of the Group by 5,000
tonnes. The Board believes that the federal government of Ethiopia
is keen to develop the Kingdom Linen Yarn Factory constructed on
this land parcel and develop it into one of the model projects of the
“Belt & Road” initiative in Ethiopia. The Chinese government also
encouraged manufacturers to expand overseas by expanding the
scope of political risk insurance coverage of insurances offered by
state-owned insurance companies. The Ethiopia project will generate
savings on land lease, labour, energy, tax and custom duty for
exports of linen yarn manufactured in Ethiopia to a vast number of
countries in the world. Despite there being on and off ethnopolitical
conflicts since October 2016, which has led to the resignation of the
former Prime Minister of Ethiopia in February 2018, the Government
of Ethiopia has reaffirmed their commitment in maintaining the
industrialization agenda that has already been initiated. With the
new Ethiopian Prime Minister Abiy Ahmed Ali being awarded with
the Nobel Peace Prize in 2019, the Board believes that the strategic
investment in Ethiopia will have a long-term benefit to the Group.
The factory in Ethiopia commenced production in the second half of
2021 and has been gradually ramping up its scale of production to its
designed capacity.

Existing and planned production bases

No.  Factory Location Country
w®E EE s EIES
1 Haiyan 1st Factory Zhejiang China
—HRE L hE
2 Rugao Factory Jiangsu China
NRBE LB hE
3 Haiyan 2nd Factory Zhejiang China
SHE_HBE il e
4 Qinggang Factory Heilongjiang China
BEBE Bl hE
5 Ethiopia Adama Ethiopia
IREMLE ape3 IREMILD
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group has conducted feasibility studies of setting up a new
factory in Egypt, to further expand the production capacity of the
Group to meet different customers’ needs in the coming years.

Patents, Awards and Recognition

The Group has continued to invest in technology and innovation. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group owned 69 registered patents and
there were another 25 patent applications pending formal approval
by relevant authorities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Year, the Group’s revenue grew by approximately 21.0% to
approximately RMB2,445,428,000 (2022: RMB2,021,055,000). The
growth of revenue was mainly attributable to the increased selling
price of pure linen yarn during the Year. During the Year, sales to
China and non-EU markets grew by 54.2% and 12.7% respectively,
while sales to EU market dropped by 15.2% on a year-on-year basis.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the Year, the Group’s gross profit reached RMB411,488,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 6.4% (2022:
RMB386,900,000). Gross profit margin for the Year decreased by 2.3
percentage points to 16.8% (2022: 19.1%) as a result of rising raw
material costs which increased at a more rapid rate than the increase
in selling prices of pure linen yarn during the Year.

Other Income and Gains

For the Year, the Group recorded a net gain of RMB18,927,000
(2022: RMB54,431,000) for its other income and gains, which
mainly comprises of interest income of RMB4,526,000 (2022:
RMB2,173,000), various government grants which amounted to
RMB11,833,000 (2022: RMB12,863,000) and an insurance income
of RMB2,019,000 during the Year (2022: RMB196,000).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses amounted
to approximately RMB42,229,000 (2022: RMB41,532,000), which
accounted for approximately 1.7% of the Group’s revenue (2022:
2.1%). The decrease in the selling and distribution expenses as a
percentage of the Group’s revenue for the Year was due to fewer
promotion expenses incurred during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE RO

Administrative Expenses

For the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses amounted to
approximately RMB116,078,000 (2022: RMB119,013,000),
representing a slight decrease of approximately 2.5% as compared to
the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to savings of general office expenses during
the Year.

Impairment Loss on Financial Assets

The impairment loss on financial assets are provision of bad debts
for trade receivable of RMB4,568,000 (2022: reversal of provision of
RMB586,000) during the Year.

Other Expenses
Other expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB9,549,000 (2022: RMB13,192,000), mainly comprised asset
disposal loss of RMB2,757,000 (2022: RMB11,110,000) and an
exchange loss of RMB5,432,000 (2022: an exchange gain of
RMB37,087,000).

Finance Costs
For the Year,
RMB36,800,000 (2022: RMB33,852,000), which comprised
net finance cost of approximately RMB36,445,000 (2022:
RMB33,466,000) and interest on lease liabilities of approximately
RMB355,000 (2022: RMB386,000). Net finance costs represented
the total interest expense on bank loans of approximately
RMB37,708,000 (2022: RMB38,419,000) less amount capitalized
attributable to capital assets. An interest expense of approximately
RMB1,263,000 was capitalized during the Year (2022:
RMB4,953,000).

finance costs amounted to approximately

Income Tax Expenses
Income tax expense for the Year was approximately RMB58,401,000
(2022: RMB63,020,000). The effective tax rate of the Year was 26.4%.

Profit for the Year

As a result, the Group recorded a net profit of approximately
RMB162,790,000 for the Year, as compared to approximately
RMB171,808,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

THRX

RER AEEBMNITHERBEINAS AR

116,078,000t (ZE =4 : AR#¥119,013,000

T OBRBE_E_ _F+_B=+—HLEEE

W’*ﬂzﬂw%ﬁz 5% ITEBESZ R/ DT EERIPNER
IS — MR AERS

EREERERE
THREEREFEATFNEKE ZIRFURIREH
ANE 184,568,000t (ZE - "% : HEEHLIAR
#586,0007T) ©

Hihfx
REBREANNEMBEZNA AR, 549,000
T(ZEZ & AR®13,192,0007T) » =&
BEEEREGFEARK2,757,0007T (2 &
—”HE D ARY11,110,0007T) REREBEAR
15,432,000 (ZEZZF  EREmARE
37,087,0007T) ©

A5 R 2

RERN BB ALA ANR36,800,0007T (=
T & ANR¥33,852,0007T)  BIEM A
KFEHARNE36,445,0000 (CBEZ_F . A
K 133,466,00070) MAEEBBENENOARE
355,0007T (ZZE == : AKE#386,0007T) © {1
B A FREIEIRITTERNF ERZEBENAR
37,708,0007¢ (&~ _F : AR#538,419,0007T)
REAEERGHNERRERASE - RERER
EANFERZAA AR 263,000 (ZF
— & ANRE%4,953,0007T) ©

Frigip2

FREREZAA ARKES8,401,0007T (2=
— % AR163,020,0007T) c ERNERREA
26.4%°

FRiEF

AL > AEBRFARSANOARE
162,790,000 MBE T _"F+_H=+—
HIEFER B4 ARE171,808,0007T



Management Discussion and Analysis

Minority Interests

The Group’s minority interests amounted to RMB821,000, which
mainly represented the share of the results of those non-wholly
owned subsidiaries, attributable to the minority shareholdings during
the Year (2022: RMB3,888,000).

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent

During the Year, the Group recorded a profit attributable to owners
of the parent of approximately RMB163,611,000, as compared to
approximately RMB175,696,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Other Intangible Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s intangible assets mainly
comprise patents and licences which amounted to RMB1,600,000
(2022: RMB1,800,000) and certified emission rights obtained in 2012
for a term of 20 years, which amounted to RMB3,716,000 (2022:
RMB4,373,000). Intangible assets are subject to amortisation based
on their useful lives. For the Year, the amortisation of intangible assets
was approximately RMB857,000 (2022: RMB703,000).

Inventories

As at 31 December 2023, inventories of the Group increased
by approximately 48.8% to RMB1,019,545,000 (2022:
RMB685,180,000), the average inventory turnover days increased
from 147 days as at 31 December 2022 to 153 days as at 31
December 2023. The increase in number of inventory turnover days
was mainly attributable to high volume purchase of raw materials at
the end of 2023, with RMB238,639,000 of raw materials still in the
status of goods of transit due to the disruption of shipment routes near
the Red Sea at the end of the Year.

Trade and Notes Receivables

As at 31 December 2023, trade and notes receivables of the Group
increased by approximately 31.0% to RMB558,356,000 (2022:
RMB426,267,000), and the average trade receivable turnover days
decreased from 85 days as at 31 December 2022 to 73 days as at 31
December 2023.
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Trade and Notes Payables

As at 31 December 2023, trade and notes payables of the
Group increased by approximately 60.1% to approximately
RMB587,651,000 (2022: RMB367,096,000). The average trade
payable turnover days increased to 86 days during the Year (2022: 74
days).

Interest-bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings increased by 15.5% to approximately RMB869,526,000
(2022: RMB752,903,000), of which RMB833,806,000 (2022:
RMB696,344,000) were classified as current liabilities and
RMB35,720,000 (2022: RMB56,559,000) were classified as non-
current liabilities. The Group’s borrowings were denominated in
Renminbi, United States Dollars and Euros, of which approximately
RMB715,500,000 (2022: RMB423,000,000) were at fixed interest
rates.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB562,864,000 (2022: RMB417,334,000). The
Group financed its operations with internally generated resources and
bank loans during the Year. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
total cash and deposits of approximately RMB521,256,000 (2022:
RMB529,369,000) which consisted of cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB454,812,000 (2022: RMB467,469,000)
and pledged deposits of approximately RMB66,444,000 (2022:
RMB61,900,000). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in Renminbi, United States Dollars, Hong Kong Dollars,
Euros and Ethiopian Birrs.

The liquidity ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately 134.6% (2022: 131.6%). Total equity of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB1,587,212,000 (2022:
RMB1,487,990,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings repayable within 12 months therefrom of
approximately RMB833,806,000 (2022: RMB696,344,000) and
long-term interest-bearing other borrowings of approximately
RMB35,720,000 (2022: RMB56,559,000). Together these interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings represented a gross debt gearing
ratio (i.e. total borrowings divided by total equity) of approximately
54.8% (2022: 50.6%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, outstanding contractual capital
commitments of the Group in respect of purchase of property,
plant and equipment not provided for in the annual financial
statements amounted to approximately RMB24,422,000 (2022:
RMB208,855,000).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material

contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the current interest-bearing bank
borrowings with a carrying amount of RMB339,817,000 (2022:
RMB408,000,000) were secured by certain property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and inventories with carrying amounts
of RMB219,609,000 (2022: RMB298,487,000), RMB9,991,000
(2022: Nil) and RMB40,000,000 (2022: RMB40,000,000),
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the non-current interest-bearing bank
borrowings with a carrying amount of RMB30,000,000 (2022: Nil)
were secured by certain right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of
RMB15,092,000 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the current interest-bearing bank
borrowings with a carrying amount of RMB11,495,000 (2022: Nil)
were guaranteed by the directors of the Company.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

In order to diversify the supply chain of the Group and to cater for the
demand of different customers, the Group has conducted a feasibility
study of setting up a new factory in Egypt in 2023 and plans to
proceed with registering a company in Egypt for the factory in 2024.
The Group intends to finance such investment by the Group's internal
resources and/or external financing. Save as disclosed above and
the various up-keeping and maintenance of existing factory projects,
the Directors confirmed that as at the date of this report, there is no
current plan to acquire any material investment or capital assets.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group's transactions were mainly denominated in Renminbi,
United States Dollars, Euro and Hong Kong Dollars. The exchange
rate changes of such currencies were monitored regularly and
managed appropriately. The Group had entered into certain foreign
currency forward contracts during the Year and there was no material
derivative financial asset or liability recorded as at 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

REMUNERATION POLICY AND SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 3,700 employees
(2022: 4,087 employees). Total staff costs incurred for the Year was
roughly the same and only increased by approximately 0.3% to
RMB262,496,000 (2022: RMB261,764,000).

The Group offers comprehensive and competitive remuneration,
retirement scheme and benefit packages to its employees. The
Group is required to make contributions (retirement insurance and
unemployment insurance) to a social security scheme in China. The
remuneration policy for the employees of the Group is formulated by
the Board with reference to the employee’s respective qualification,
experience, responsibilities and contributions to the Group, as well as
the prevailing market rate of remuneration for a similar position. The
remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board based on
the recommendation of the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and with the mandate given by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics. The Group also provides both internal and external
training programmes for its employees from time to time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group has also adopted a share option scheme and a share
award plan for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the
Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, and other
employees of the Group who have contributed to the success of the
Group's operations.

OUTLOOK AND PLANS

With the backdrop of the over-a-year-long military conflict between
Russia and Ukraine, and Israel’s military action in Palestine, causing
the disruption of shipment routes near the Red Sea and heightened
shipment costs, as well as the political divergence of superpowers of
the world, the year of 2024 and beyond are still full of challenges.

With the aging population in China and surging operating costs in
Asia, and in order to meet the demand of various customers, the
diversification of supply chain is imminent.

In addition to the Ethiopia factory which commenced operation in
2021, the Group has conducted feasibility studies of setting up a new
factory in Egypt and in Northern Africa, which could benefit from
reduced or zero import duties to EU member states. We will move
forward with this project cautiously in 2024.

Kingdom collaborated with a UK non-profit and social-oriented
enterprise with a clear mission to transform the linen industry for
good, to develop the REEL Linen Code of Conduct. REEL Linen is
a sustainability-driven initiative for brands which are committed to
sourcing more sustainable linen, and the contents of the initiative
include improving environment, product quality and traceability
conditions in the supply chain factories and farms worldwide.
REEL stands for the idea of “Responsible Environment, Enhanced
Livelihood” and it implements sustainable development into
production practices. Kingdom will continue to promote the REEL
Linen Code to move towards a sustainable operation and ensure its
long-term success.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESheaREEE

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ren Weiming ((£4£E8), aged 64, is the chairman of the Group
and an executive Director. Mr. Ren is responsible for the overall
management of the Group and decision-making of the business
development strategy of the Group. Mr. Ren has worked in the silk
and textile industry since 1979. He has been the chairman and
general manager of Zhejiang Kingdom Creative Co., Ltd.* GifiTs&
ZRIERMBIRAER) (“Kingdom Creative”), a company which
is owned as to 71.64% by Mr. Ren since 2000. Mr. Ren started to
engage in the linen yarn manufacturing business in December 2001.
He joined the Group in March 2003 when the first operating member
of the Group, Zhejiang Jinyuan Flax Co., Ltd.* (37T & CiE i A R
‘AE]) (“Zhejiang Jinyuan”) was established. Mr. Ren is a director of
Zhejiang Jinyuan, Jiangsu Jinyuan Flax Co., Ltd. * CL#k <= CaE A
fR/AB)) (“Jiangsu Jinyuan”), and Zhejiang Kingdom Flax Co., Ltd.*
(HIeE R MARLQF) (“Zhejiang Kingdom”), all of which are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ren is also a director
of Heilongjiang Kingdom Enterprise Co., Ltd.* (BEE/ I REMES R
‘2 7)) (“Heilongjiang Kingdom”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. Mr. Ren obtained various awards including National
Township Entrepreneur awarded by the Ministry of Agriculture of
the PRC, National Excellent Young Factory Manager and Zhejiang
Provincial Excellent Entrepreneur. He was a representative of the
9th and 10th National People’s Congress of Zhejiang Province. Mr.
Ren is currently the vice president of China Bast and Leaf Fibers
Textile Association and the Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong General
Chamber of Textiles Ltd. He is also a director of Kingdom Investment
Holdings Limited (“Kingdom Investment”) which holds interests in
the Shares discloseable under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the”SFO”). Mr. Ren is a director of Kingdom
Creative and its subsidiaries including Zhejiang Jinxiu Jiangnan Silk
Co., Ltd.* (M LER# I #4485 BR/AF)) (“Jinxiu Jiangnan”) and
Interconnect Financial Leasing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* CE@R &
& (£78) BFRAF) (“Interconnect”). Mr. Ren is also a director of
Bank of Jiaxing Co., Ltd.* (ZHIB1TIRHBRAE) which is owned
as to 7.39% by Kingdom Creative.
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shen Yueming (JLBEBH), aged 62, is an executive Director.
Mr. Shen is a director of Zhejiang Jinyuan, Jiangsu Jinyuan and
Zhejiang Kingdom, all of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Shen is also a director of Heilongjiang Kingdom,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Shen is
responsible for the day-to-day operations and management of the
Group and also takes part in the decision making of the business
development strategy of the Group. He is also a director of Kingdom
Creative and its subsidiaries including Jinxiu Jiangnan, Interconnect
and Haiyan Chen Chen Silk Clothing Co., Ltd* (S5 B E 444855555
FR/2 1) . Mr. Shen joined the Group in March 2003.

Mr. Zhang Hongwen (SRJ§3X), aged 57, is an executive Director. Mr.
Zhang is the director of Zhejiang Jinyuan, Jiangsu Jinyuan, Zhejiang
Kingdom, Kingdom Tiansheng (Shanghai) Trading Co., Ltd.* (&#EX
R (kL&) mEBAMRAR), Zhejiang Kingdom REEL Textile Co. Ltd.*
(I EHEABARAT) (“Kingdom REEL”) and Heilongjiang
Kingdom Hemp Co., Ltd.* (BEISEMEAMBIREATD), all
of which are subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a director of
Kingdom Creative and its subsidiaries including Interconnect, Jinxiu
Jiangnan, Zhejiang Yuyuan Photovoltaic Co., Ltd.* (37T SR KB
PRAE]), Heilongjiang Kangyuan Bio-Technology Co., Ltd.* (B&eiT
BREYR B R/AE) (“Kangyuan Bio-Tech”). Before joining the
Group in 2003, Mr. Zhang was the assistant to the general manager
and the head of capital clearing division of Kingdom Creative from
2000 to 2002.
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ESheaREEE

Ms. Shen Hong CL3E), aged 57, is an executive Director. Ms. Shen
is the management controller of the Group. She completed her
professional accounting studies at Zhejiang Long March Finance
School in the People’s Republic of China in July 1994 and has more
than 20 years of experience in finance-related area. Ms. Shen is the
director of Heilongjiang Kingdom and Heilongjiang Kangyuan Seed
Industry Co., Ltd.* (BEE/IRREZEBIRAT) (“Kangyuan Seed”),
both of which are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
Ms. Shen is also a director of Kingdom Creative and its subsidiaries
including Kangyuan Bio-Tech. Before joining the Group in March
2003, she worked in Kingdom Creative as the head of finance
management department.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert (BEs:)&), aged 74, is a non-executive
Director. Mr. Ngan is the chairman of Millionfull Company Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong engaged in the trading of
linen and linen blend textiles. Mr. Ngan was a member of the 9th
and 10th Fujian Provincial People’s Political Consultative Conference
and vice-chairman of Po Leung Kuk from April 2010 to March 2012.
He was the president of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Textiles
Ltd. from September 2009 to August 2011 and was appointed as the
permanent honorary chairman of The Hong Kong General Chamber
of Textiles Ltd. in September 2011 and as a director of HuaQiao
University in 2002. He is a member of the Election Committee of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. He joined the Group in
September 2004. He is also the chairman of the board of directors of
Millionfull International Co., Ltd which has interests in the shares of
the Company discloseable under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO. He is also a director of Interconnect.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

ABL T BER+ LR BITEF LLERE
EEEEAE - BN —ANEFELATRPEA
RAMBENIRIEMECEE RS FEER
2o EABE0FENMBEBER LR AHER
BIMRIFEENB AR R IEEREREIRR
BEBRAR (REEE) NEF - LLLTH
TEAERANBRARDRREDHENESE I
“EE-F-RMALEB A WAESERE
RV HFEERFITE-

JEHMITES

BETREE RET MR FRITEF AL
FHETEBERRBEF Z AR ESBEMK
UoRNEEIMEREMESHBAERBRES EEL
TATERARBAHEEEREEEENLERE T+
EZEgMEMNR T SFONAEZ—_F
—BARRBEEE - BN _EZTAFELAEZ
T——F ) \FHBEEEEpEmTSE TN
E——FhBEZTASTEHBEEXRER
EZ2ERERENR ST FRERZEIAEBRENE
FoRBASTERITHEEREZEGERE
RZEZ2MEABIMALREE K IR AMillionfull
International Co., LdMNESZSZEE > ZATNE
NERNDPEERBEE S RBERAEXVE S
2R EIDEME BT IR EN R A ERN
==



Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Ying Kit (B Z2), aged 50, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Lau is the finance and investor relations director and
the company secretary of Dalipal Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
01921), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Lau is also currently an independent non-executive director of
United Strength Power Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 02337), Sinco
Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 06833) and KangLi
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 06890), all of which are
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From
16 May 2012 to 30 September 2020, Mr. Lau was an independent
non-executive director of Xiezhong International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 03663) which was delisted on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 5 July 2021 and from 20 December 2013 to 15
February 2022, was an independent non-executive director of China
Wood Optimization (Holding) Limited (Stock Code: 01885) which
is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Lau is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and holds a master’s degree in finance from the City
University of Hong Kong. He has extensive experience in financial
and accounting in China and Hong Kong. He joined the Group in
November 2006.

Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson (38/&15), aged 50, is an independent
non-executive Director. Mr. Lo has more than 20 years of working
experience in investment banking and advising on corporate finance.
Mr. Lo is the managing director of Caitong International Capital
Company Limited. Mr. Lo is also an independent non-executive
director of Raymond Industrial Limited (Stock Code: 00229), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lo also
has three years of experience in the field of auditing and accounting.
Mr. Lo is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in commerce
from the University of British Columbia in Canada in 1995. He joined
the Group in May 2010.
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Mr. Yan Jianmiao (B&#£w), aged 58, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director at the conclusion of the annual
general meeting on 30 May 2016. Mr. Yan is currently a professor
of Department of International Economics of Zhejiang University
(“ZJU"), a director of China Society of World Economics (CSWE),
an executive director of Zhejiang International Economics and Trade
Association and a researcher of the Center for Research of Private
Economy (CRPE) of ZJU. Prior to holding these positions, Mr. Yan
served as a deputy director in Department of International Trade of
Hangzhou University and a director of Department of International
Economics of ZJU. Mr. Yan is currently an independent director
of Baida Group Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 600865), a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and Rongsheng Petrochemical
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002493), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. Mr. Yan was an independent director of Top Choice
Medical Co., Inc. (Stock Code: 600763) from 24 December 2014
until 1 February 2021, and of Zhejiang Xinan Chemical Industrial
Group Co. Ltd. (Stock Code: 600596) from 7 July 2014 until 1 July
2020, both of which are companies listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yan graduated from Hangzhou University in 1985 with
a Bachelor of Economics degree. He obtained a master’s degree in
economics from the Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences in 1988.
Mr. Yan was a senior visiting scholar of Le Havre Business School in
France in 1997 and obtained a PhD in Economics from ZJU in 2005.
He joined the Group in May 2016.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy (BR1=#), aged 55, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Company. Mr. Chan has over
20 years of experience in accounting and the financial sector. From
July 2004 to January 2014, he was the group financial controller
and company secretary of Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited
(Stock Code: 00157), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, responsible for financial planning and monitoring.
Prior to July 2004, he worked in an international accounting
firm and served senior financial positions in a company listed on
the NASDAQ Stock Market and a renowned German exhibition
company. Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive director
of Greentown Management Holdings Company Limited (Stock
Code: 09979), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and one of the Hang Seng Composite Index constituent
stocks. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA). He is also a Fellow
Chartered Secretary and Fellow Chartered Governance Professional
of The Chartered Governance Institute (CGI) and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI). Mr. Chan graduated from
the University of Hull in the United Kingdom with a bachelor’s
degree in economics and accounting in 1992; graduated from the
Ivey Business School with Western University (formerly Richard Ivey
School of Business with University of Western Ontario), Canada
with an Executive MBA in 2008 and graduated from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a master’s degree in corporate
governance (with distinction) in 2021. Mr. Chan joined the Group in
January 2014.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRS

It is the Board’s pleasure to present their annual report on the affairs
of the Group together with the audited financial statements for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 92 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 4 and page 9 of this annual report. An indication
of likely future developments of the Group’s business can be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. An analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the sections headed “Five Year Financial Summary” on
page 8 and “Financial Review” on page 15 of this annual report.

The Group is committed to supporting environmental sustainability.
In its pursuit of excellent operating results, the Group has put a
lot of efforts in promoting sustainable development. The annual
consumption of electricity, water, steam and natural gas of the
Group during the Year decreased by 7.0%, 6.1%, 12.5% and 6.8%
respectively. We will continue to explore ways to improve the
production processes to further enhance our operational efficiencies.
For details of the Group’s performance in ESG aspects including
relationships with various stakeholders and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group,
please refer to the Group’s separate ESG report for the Year. The
Group has been in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company during the Year.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACED BY
THE GROUP

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing of linen yarn
and the sale of the products to over 20 countries. Overseas sales are
invoiced in United States Dollars, except for the sales by the Group’s
subsidiary in Italy which are invoiced in Euro. Domestic sales in
China are invoiced in Renminbi. Raw materials (flax fiber and hemp
fiber) are imported from Europe and sourced in China. The principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group include the unstable demand
for linen yarn, protectionism of certain countries and possible
punitive tariffs on products made in China, unstable supply of raw
materials, continuous decline in cotton price, depreciation of United
States Dollars against Renminbi, the execution risk of overseas
expansion projects including Ethiopia, and the outbreak of epidemic
which caused disruption of the production process.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners. The Company provides a
fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity of its staff and provides
competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group
also puts in ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and
development resources to its employees so that they can keep abreast
of the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the
same time, improve their performance and achieve self-actualization
in performing their duties.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFFECTING THE COMPANY
THAT HAVE OCCURRED SINCE THE END OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR

There was no important event affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the Year and up to the date of this annual
report.
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R*eport of the Directors
EFEHRS

DIVIDEND

At a meeting of the Board held on 28 March 2024, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.09 per
ordinary share for the Year. The proposed final dividend, if approved
by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, will be paid on or before 24 July 2024 to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company as
at 26 June 2024. None of the Shareholders has waived or agreed to
waive any dividend.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 96 of this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s distributable reserves
calculated under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands amounted
to RMB646,304,000 (31 December 2022: RMB609,415,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year
amounted to approximately RMB139,000 (2022: RMB148,000).

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Group are set out
in note 26 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 8 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment of
approximately RMB31,308,000. Details of the movements are set out
in note 13 to the financial statements.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

[:35)

TR TMFE=ZRA-+/\BRTHNEFEG:
£ %%%LﬁﬁﬁimkﬁﬂéﬁkaLk
0.09BTT - MRRNARBEERRBFAE L
HE ZERBRERN _Z_MFELE —+H
Bz MR 2 MFE A Z+"BRIER
B IR R B MR AR SR AT o B SR IR RN E N E B
BEARE-

f#
AERRFANEEEHHNEFRFEICENS
HlEmEsK-

] ik

RN _E_=F+"_BA=+—H ' EAATRE
HERBEARAENT D REEEZARKE
646,304,000t CE_"_F+"BA=+—H: A
R #609,415,0007T) °

Ei=E
FERRENEENEEREMIBRNA AR
139,00070 (ZE =4 : AR¥148,0007T) ©

Rz 7
HIEMR B B WA 260

MBHE
FEBEBEAEMBFENERREENAE
M E RN A FRESE o

ME- -BERSKE
FER REBE AL ARKE31,308,0007CHI Y2
B R s& s BN B B IR R M 5E13 0



DIRECTORS
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Directors
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ren Weiming (Chairman)
Mr. Shen Yueming

Mr. Zhang Hongwen

Ms. Shen Hong

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau Ying Kit

Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson

Mr. Yan Jianmiao

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles of Association of the Company
(the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years and be eligible for re-election. In accordance with article
84 of the Articles, Mr. Ren Weiming, Mr. Shen Yueming and Mr.
Zhang Hongwen shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. All retiring Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Report of the Directors
EFERS

BF
FERAREEFFHRABVESOT

RITES
RAERRSE (/)
CEERRSE
SRIBX L
LR L

IERITER
BREREE

BIAERITES
BRI E
BEERE
BREELE

BEAQAEEREEZMA (THR) F84F > 10
BERRBFRE L ERAB =02 —WNES
(HMEBEABMLIF=C)NEH AARRESR
BALR=ZD2Z—HNEFTAR HARERE
EEBUEFARIB=ZFRE—T LEERBE
BEIEME - RIRABRI B84 - (EMERR ST L ERER ST
ERRBXEEENEERREFAE LHER
E-FREREIEFSERTBMENEERREBESF
A LBEEERES-

Kingdom Holdings Limited £ZZERERATE

33



34

Report of the Directors
EFEHRS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has any unexpired service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries,
and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, was a party
and in which a Director has a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year except as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below and note 32 to the financial statements.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the
Board considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during
the Year and remain so as at the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto; provided that such indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any of the said persons. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers” liability insurance
coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers
of the Group.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors and senior management. The remuneration of all
Directors and senior management is subject to regular monitoring
by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate.

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Company during
the Year fell within the following range:

RMB1,500,001 — RMB2,000,000

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on page 24 of this annual report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”, there is no other change in information of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company which is required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the
date of the interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors had the following interests
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which were recorded or required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules:

Name of Director BEENSH
Mr. Ren Weiming EHRR%E
Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert ke s
Ms. Shen Hong Bzt
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Personal interests
(Note 1)

EPN 5
=0

12,072,000

418,000

504,000

EFRESTHRAESRKRS HEERG
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

SREE.OIATHEER
Approximate
percentage
Total of issued
Corporate number of share capital
interests  Shares interested (%)
EERITRE
ERERN BOBESL
YNGIE RIEBEH (%)
314,990,000 327,062,000 51.94
(Note 2)
(Hfsz2)
67,000,000 67,418,000 10.71
(Note 3)
(Hi5t3)
- 504,000 0.08



Notes:
s The Shares are beneficially owned by the Directors personally.

2% Mr. Ren Weiming holds approximately 76.38% of the issued share
capital of Kingdom Investment (as defined below). Mr. Ren therefore
holds a controlling interest in Kingdom Investment and is deemed
under the SFO to be interested in the Shares held by Kingdom
Investment.

£l Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert and Ms. Ngan Chan Kattie Sau Kat, the
spouse of Mr. Ngan, hold approximately 51.00% and 23.00% of the
issued share capital of Millionfull International (as defined below) and
57.98% and 29.76% of the issued share capital of Millionfull Company
Limited, respectively. Mr. Ngan therefore holds controlling interests in
both Millionfull International and Millionfull Company Limited and
is deemed under the SFO to be interested in 64,800,000 Shares, i.e.
10.29% Shares, held by Millionfull International and 2,200,000 Shares,
i.e. 0.35% Shares, held by Millionfull Company Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or their associates had or were deemed to have any interest
or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were recorded or required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party or parties to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

So far as is known to any Director, as at 31 December 2023, the
following persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which were recorded or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO:

Name of Shareholder Capacity

ARER % TE 5145

Kingdom Investment Holdings Limited Beneficial owner
(“Kingdom Investment”) (Note 1) EmEAA

Kingdom Investment Holdings Limited
(TKingdom Investment J) (#/5%7)

Millionfull International Co., Ltd. Beneficial owner
(“Millionfull International”) (Note 2) EmEA A

Millionfull International Co., Ltd.
(" Millionfull International 1) (#75£2)

Notes:

1. Kingdom Investment is owned as to 76.38% by Mr. Ren Weiming, an
executive Director and substantial shareholder of the Company.

2. Millionfull International is owned as to 51.00% by Mr. Ngan Kam Wai
Albert, a non-executive Director, and 23.00% by Ms. Ngan Chan Kattie
Sau Kat, the spouse of Mr. Ngan.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any person, other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) with Shareholders’ approval at
the annual general meeting held on 30 May 2016 was adopted on the
same date.

The Scheme was established to recognize and acknowledge the
contributions that eligible participants had made or may make to
the Group. The Scheme will provide the eligible participants with an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the view to
achieving the following objectives:

(@  motivate the eligible participants to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(b)  attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business
relationship with the eligible participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long term growth of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the Scheme, the Board may at its discretion
grant options to: (i) any Director, employee, consultant, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a
company in which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such
company (the “Affiliate”); or (ii) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary
of which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of
which include any Director, employee, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially owned by any
Director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate,
who has contributed to the success of the Group’s operations. The
overall limit on the number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other schemes must not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time. Subject to the aforesaid limit,
the total number of Shares available for issue under options which
may be granted under the Scheme and any other schemes must not,
in aggregate, exceed 62,967,800 Shares, being 10% of the number of
issued Shares as at 30 May 2016, the date of adoption of the Scheme,
and 10% of the number of issued Shares as at the date of this annual
report, respectively, unless separate Shareholders’ approval has been
obtained.

In accepting the relevant options, the participant is required to pay
HK$10.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant of options.
The payment of such consideration should be made on or before the
relevant acceptance date, being a date not later than 30 days after the
offer date.
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The maximum entitlement for any one participant under the Scheme
shall not in any 12-month period up to the date of grant exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be
specified by the Board at the time of the grant, and must expire no
later than 10 years from the date of grant of option.

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which
an option must be held or the performance targets which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the
Scheme. However, at the time of granting any option, the Board may
impose such conditions, restrictions or limitations as it may determine
in its absolute discretion.

The subscription price for any Share shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a business day, (ii) an amount equivalent to the
average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the date of its adoption. The Scheme will have a
remaining term of approximately 2 years as at the date of this annual
report.
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No option has been granted under the Scheme since its adoption
on 30 May 2016 and the Company has no current plans to grant
any options under the Scheme. Therefore, it is not applicable for
the Company to set out any details of the grant in accordance with
Rule 17.07(1) of the Listing Rules.
awarded under the Scheme, and the Company has no current plans
to grant any awarded Shares under the Share Award Plan, it is not
applicable for the Company to set out the number of Shares that may
be issued in respect of the Scheme and the Share Award Plan during
the year ended 31 December 2023 divided by the weighted average
number of Shares of the relevant class in issue for the year ended
31 December 2023. There were a maximum of 62,967,800 Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted

Also, since no Shares have been

under the Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31
December 2023.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Company has adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award
Plan”) on 26 August 2016. The purpose of the Share Award Plan
is to incentivize, recognize and reward eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group, attract and retain personnel, and align
the interests of award holders with that of the Shareholders to
promote the long-term development and financial performance of the
Company.

The Board may, from time to time and at its sole discretion, select any
eligible person to participate in the Share Award Plan and determine
the number of Shares to be awarded and the terms and conditions
of the awards. Awards shall be satisfied by Shares acquired in the
market at the prevailing market price and no new Shares will be
allotted and issued under the Share Award Plan. The trustee of the
Share Award Plan (the “Trustee”) shall hold the awarded Shares on
trust for the award holders until the awarded Shares are vested in
the relevant award holders according to the Share Award Plan rules.
Upon vesting, the Trustee shall either transfer the vested awarded
Shares at no cost to such award holders or sell the vested awarded
Shares at the then prevailing market price by way of market order and
remit the net proceeds to the award holders in accordance with the
direction given by such award holders.
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No amount is payable by a selected person upon the acceptance of
an offer of or transfer of the awarded Shares from the Trustee to such
selected person.

Any grant of awarded Shares to a selected person which would result
in the aggregate of (i) the number of awarded Shares underlying
all awards (whether vested or not); and (ii) the number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of options (whether exercised
or outstanding) under any share option scheme adopted by the
Company from time to time (including the Scheme), granted to such
selected person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant of such awarded Shares exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of grant of such awarded Shares shall be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders in a general meeting. In any financial
year of the Company, the maximum number of Shares acquired by
the Trustee under the Share Award Plan shall not exceed 5% of the
Shares in issue as at the beginning of such financial year.

Subject to earlier termination by the Board, the Share Award Plan
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date of
its adoption. The Share Award Plan will have a remaining term of
approximately 2.5 years as at the date of this annual report.

During the Year, no Shares have been awarded pursuant to the
Share Award Plan. There was a total of 13,230,750 Shares held
by Trustee and available for future granting as at 31 December
2023, representing approximately 2.1% of the issued Shares of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

None of the Company’s Directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders or their respective associates had been awarded any
Shares of the Company from the Scheme or Share Award Plan.

All awarded Shares were granted to employees of the Group. There
was no participant with awarded Shares granted in excess of the
1% individual limit and there was no related entity participant or
service provider with awarded Shares granted and to be granted in
any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the ordinary shares of the
Company in issue.
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The following table sets out awards granted and to be granted under
the Share Award Plan to (i) each of the Directors, chief executive
or substantial shareholders of the listed issuer, or their respective
associates; (ii) each participant with awards granted and to be
granted in excess of the 1% individual limit; (iii) each related entity
participant or service provider with awards granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the relevant class of
Shares in issue; and (iv) other employee participants, related entity
participants and service providers by category:

Number of

awarded

Shares unvested

at the beginning

of the Year

(together with
date of grant, Number of
vesting period  awarded Shares
and purchase granted during
rice) the Year

ENXRBEN

ERRASE
(BRELHAH FREHE
Name/Category of selected person ~ EEA L% /485 FEEREAR BERHEE
Mr. Ren Weiming (Chairman) RBEE (ER) = =
Mr. Shen Yueming (Director) LRRALLE ED) = =
Mr. Zhang Hongwen (Director) REXEL (EF) - -
Ms. Shen Hong (Director) LELL (ES) = =
Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert (Director) ~ EA& IR 4 (E%) - -
Mr. Lau Ying Kit (Director) BsfEL ED) = =
Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson (Director) BB (ES) - -
M:r. Yan Jianmiao (Director) BEGLE ED) - -

Substantial shareholders or their
respective associates

TERRAREZEN -
BEA

FalE

Related entities HEER
PRE RS -

The five highest paid individuals during R BEERZ =
the financial year in aggregate EaiMALas

~EBEMERSS -

Service providers

Other employees of the Group in
aggregate

During the Year, no Shares have been awarded pursuant to the Share
Award Plan and no option has been granted under the Scheme since
its adoption on 30 May 2016, it is not applicable for the Company
to set out the number of Shares that may be issued in respect
of the Share Award Plan and the Scheme during the year ended
31 December 2023 divided by the weighted average number of
Shares of the relevant class in issue for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Scheme and the Share Award Plan as disclosed in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreement was entered into during
the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year
of 2023.

INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business have
been entered into, or subsisted, between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and any controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 27.5% of the Group's total sales for the Year and
sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
7.5% of the Group’s total sales for the Year. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 80.4%
of the Group’s total purchases for the Year, and purchases from the
Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 34.9% of the
Group's total purchases for the Year.

So far as the Board is aware, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had
any interests in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers noted
above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected transactions

The Group had not entered into any transaction that constituted
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules during the Year.

Continuing connected transactions

The Group had entered into the following continuing connected
transactions with its connected persons which subsisted during the
Year. The transactions constituted non-exempt continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
that were subject to reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but exempt from circular, independent financial advice
and independent Shareholders” approval requirements.

1. Purchases of chemicals and additives

On 12 March 2021, the Company entered into an agreement
with Jinxiu Jiangnan in relation to the purchase of chemicals
and additives (the “Purchase of Chemicals and Additives
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company
agreed to purchase, and Jinxiu Jiangnan agreed to sell,
chemicals and additives to subsidiaries of the Company, for
the purpose of the fiber scouring and bleaching process to
be undergone by the subsidiaries, for a term of three years
with retrospective effect from 1 January 2021 and ending on
31 December 2023. The terms of the historical purchase of
chemicals and additives from Jinxiu Jiangnan were consistent
with the terms as contemplated under the Purchase of
Chemicals and Additives Framework Agreement as further
detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 12 March
2021.

The Group considered that the type of chemicals and additives
and their mixing proportion were critical to the scouring and
bleaching process, together with the identities of the suppliers,
these were collectively commercial secrets and were important
to the success of the Group. The chemicals and additives
were first purchased by Jinxiu Jiangnan, re-labelled and then
delivered to the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.
The chemicals were charged by Jinxiu Jiangnan at the original
costs of purchase from the third-party suppliers plus the
additional transportation costs of transporting the chemicals to
the Group’s factories. Such arrangements were purely made
to preserve the commercial secrets of the Group and Jinxiu
Jiangnan did not have any gain during the transactions.
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As at the date of the Purchase of Chemicals and Additives
Framework Agreement, Mr. Ren Weiming had a controlling
equity interest over Jinxiu Jiangnan. Jinxiu Jiangnan is
principally engaged in trading business and is entitled to
conduct import and export business in China.

During the Year, the Group purchased chemicals and
additives for scouring and bleaching from Jinxiu Jiangnan
with an amount of RMB2,060,000 (2022: RMB2,284,000),
which did not exceed the annual cap for the Year, which was
RMB7,000,000.

On 8 December 2023, the Company and Jinxiu Jiangnan
entered into a renewed framework agreement (the “2024
Chemicals and Additives Purchase Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase, and
Jinxiu Jiangnan agreed to sell, chemicals and additives to
the subsidiaries of the Company, including but not limited
to Zhejiang Jinyuan, Zhejiang Kingdom, Jiangsu Jinyuan,
Kingdom Ethiopia and Heilongjiang Kingdom, for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2024 and ending on
31 December 2026 (both days inclusive). Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8 December 2023 for
further details.

Purchases of tools and accessories

The Group built a new factory in Ethiopia. Due to the absence
of the relevant tools and accessories in Ethiopia, all of the
tools and accessories used in the factory in Ethiopia had to be
purchased and shipped from China to Ethiopia. On 12 March
2021, the Company entered into an agreement in relation to
the purchase of tools and accessories (the “Purchase of Tools
and Accessories Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Company agreed to purchase, and Jinxiu Jiangnan agreed to
sell, tools and accessories to subsidiaries of the Company, for
usage in the Group’s production plant in Ethiopia, for a term
of three years with retrospective effect from 1 January 2021
and ending on 31 December 2023. The terms of the historical
purchase of tools and accessories from Jinxiu Jiangnan were
consistent with the terms as contemplated under the Purchase
of Tools and Accessories Framework Agreement as further
detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 12 March
2021.
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As the tools and accessories were sourced from a number of
different suppliers in China, the Group engaged Jinxiu Jiangnan
to procure and collect those tools and accessories sourced
from different suppliers over a period of time, and consolidate
and arrange the shipment of all tools and accessories sourced
directly to our factory in Ethiopia. The tools and accessories
were charged by Jinxiu Jiangnan at the original costs of
purchase from the third-party suppliers plus the additional
shipping costs of shipping those tools and accessories to
Ethiopia. Jinxiu Jiangnan did not have any gain during the
transactions.

During the Year, the Group did not purchase any tools and
accessories from Jinxiu Jiangnan (2022: Nil). The annual cap for
the Year was RMB4,000,000.

Photovoltaic Electricity Purchase Agreement

On 24 October 2022, Zhejiang Kingdom and Zhejiang
Jinyuan, both indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, entered into a purchase agreement (the
“Photovoltaic Electricity Purchase Agreement”) with Zhejiang
Yuyuan, pursuant to which Zhejiang Kingdom and Zhejiang
Jinyuan agreed to purchase from Zhejiang Yuyuan electricity
generated from the photovoltaic electricity system owned,
managed and operated by Zhejiang Yuyuan for a term of
three years commencing from 1 October 2022 and ending
on 30 September 2025, at an annual cap of no more than
RMB3,500,000 per year. Mr. Ren Weiming, who ultimately
controls the Group, also has a controlling equity interest over
Zhejiang Yuyuan.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
purchased electricity from Zhejiang Yuyuan with an amount
of RMB2,208,000 (2022: RMB2,619,000), which was within
the annual cap. The price of electricity purchased was
charged with a discount rate of approximately 3.5% to the
prevailing government prescribed price for industrial use in
Haiyan County. As the applicable percentage ratios (other
than the profits ratio) for the Photovoltaic Electricity Purchase
Agreement, on an annual basis, exceed 0.1% but are less than
5%, the transactions contemplated under the Photovoltaic
Electricity Purchase Agreement is only subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements, but is
exempted from the circular, independent financial advice
and independent Shareholders” approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further details, please also
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24 October
2022.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the

transactions had been entered into:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there are
no available comparable terms, on terms no less favorable to
the Company than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

according to the agreements governing them and on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

The auditors of the Company was engaged to report on the continuing

connected transactions of the Group for the Year and the auditors has
provided a letter to the Board in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules, confirming that:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

nothing has come to their attention that caused the auditors to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board;

nothing has come to their attention that caused the auditors to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group and the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention that
caused the auditors to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by
the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the Group had not entered
into any other connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which needs to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the other related party transactions as
disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions required
to be disclosed in this annual report under the Listing Rules. The
related party transactions that constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Group have complied with
the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in note 25 to the financial statements.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any disclosure obligations under Rules
13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE GROUP’S
LISTED SHARES

The Company or any of its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or
redeem any of the Group’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and
the Companies Act, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

RELIEF OF TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s pension scheme are set out in note 2.4 and
note 7 to the financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as required under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Set out below is information disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the
Listing Rules:

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor their respective
associates had interests in businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Mr. Ren Weiming (“Mr. Ren”) holds directorships and/or interests
respectively, either directly and/or through Kingdom Creative, in
certain private companies (the “Private Companies”). The Private
Companies are engaged in the silk and/or silk products manufacturing
and/or trading industry, banking and finance leasing (the “Excluded
Business”), which are fundamentally different from the products
manufactured by the Group.

Mr. Ren undertakes, subject to the exceptions mentioned in
the prospectus of the Company dated 30 November 2006 (the
“Prospectus”), that he will not, and will procure that his associates
will not (a) either on his own account or in conjunction with or
on behalf of any person, firm or company, directly or indirectly be
interested or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold an interest
(in each case whether as a shareholder, partner, agent, consultant,
employee or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise)
in any business which is or is about to be engaged in any business
which competes or is likely to compete directly or indirectly with
the Group'’s business, those other businesses of the Group as set out
in the Prospectus, in Hong Kong, the PRC and any other country or
jurisdiction to which the Group markets or sells its products and/or
in which any member of the Group carries on business mentioned
above from time to time (the “Restricted Activity”), or (b) either on his
own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm
or company, or as a principal, shareholder, partner, agent, consultant,
employee or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, solicit, interfere with or endeavour to entice
away from any member in the Group any person, firm, company
or organisation who to its or his knowledge is now or has been a
customer, supplier or employee of any member in the Group.
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By reasons of the fact that the Excluded Business does not pose
any direct or indirect actual competition with the Group’s business
and that Mr. Ren has already given an undertaking as referred to
above, the Group is therefore capable of carrying on its business
independently of, and at arms’ length from, the Excluded Business as
described above.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Ren has no plan to inject the
aforesaid Excluded Business into the Group.

The Company has received from Kingdom Investment and Mr.
Ren an annual confirmation that it/he has fully complied with its/
his obligations under the deed of non-competition in favour of the
Company dated 27 November 2006 during the Year.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND LONG TERM BUSINESS
MODEL

The Company strives to be one of the largest linen yarn manufacturers
in the world through its commitment to sustainable development and
technical innovation, developing proprietary intellectual property
rights, branding of products and pursuing advanced management for
lean management and excellent performance to generate or preserve
value over a longer term.

The Board periodically reviews the progress made against ESG related
goals and targets to enable the Group’s sustainable development of its
business, in order to generate or preserve value over a longer term.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 14 December 2018
(the “Dividend Policy”).

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the annual dividend to be distributed
by the Company to the Shareholders shall be not less than 20% of
the Group’s profit attributable to Shareholders in any financial year,
subject to the criteria set out in the Dividend Policy.
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Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to all
applicable requirements under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands and the Articles.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account, inter alia, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance; Shareholders’ interests; general business conditions
and strategies; the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans; possible effects on the Group’s
creditworthiness; general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group's business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/
or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time
or from time to time. The payment of dividend is also subject to any
restriction under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and any
other applicable laws, rules and regulations, as well as the articles of
association of the Company (as amended from time to time).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Group’s principal corporate governance practices are set out on
page 56.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine who are entitled to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 7 June 2024
to Friday, 14 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine who are
entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, unregistered holders of Shares of the Company shall
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6 June 2024.
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In order to determine who are entitled to the proposed final dividend
(subject to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting), the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to Wednesday, 26 June 2024,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will
be effected. In order to determine who are entitled to the proposed
final dividend (subject to approval by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting), unregistered holders of Shares of the Company shall
ensure that, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at above address for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 June 2024. The
proposed final dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, will be paid to Shareholders
on or before Wednesday, 24 July 2024 whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company at the close of business on
Wednesday, 26 June 2024.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Company has not changed its auditors in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Ren Weiming
Chairman
Haiyan County, the PRC, 28 March 2024

*  For identification purpose only

Report of the Directors
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TEEABRS

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
GOVERNANCE

The Company is headed by an effective board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting its success by directing and supervising its
affairs. All Directors are expected to take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Company recognizes the importance of incorporating elements
of good corporate governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability and safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company. The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, as
amended from time to time (the “CG Code”), as its own code of
corporate governance.

Kingdom strives to be one of the largest linen yarn manufacturers in
the world through its commitment to sustainable development and
technical innovation, developing proprietary intellectual property
rights, branding of products and pursuing advanced management for
lean management and excellent performance to generate or preserve
value over a longer term.

All Directors are expected to act with integrity, set a good example,
and promote the desired culture and core values of the Group,
namely, Responsible, Sincere, Innovative, and Mutually Successful.

The financial performance of the Group for the Year is set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 4 and page 9 of this annual report.
Other performance of the Group for the Year is set out in the ESG
report which is separately published and is available for download at
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

At Kingdom, environmental considerations are central and are
embedded in our decision-making and management processes.
Kingdom also supports the development of innovative technologies
and properly uses and invests in technologies and businesses that
have less adverse impact on the environment.
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The Board is committed to periodically review the progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets to facilitate the Group’s
sustainable development of its business, in order to generate or
preserve value over a longer term.

Except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as
further detailed in the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer”, the Company has complied with all the code provisions set
out in the CG Code that were in effect during the Year. The Company
will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance
practices to ensure the compliance of the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code and has also devised
a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on
terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code. Having made specific enquiries with all Directors, all the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the provisions
of the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions for the Year and up to the date of this
annual report.

THE BOARD

The Board consists of eight Directors, four of whom are executive
Directors, one of whom is non-executive Director and three of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. There are seven
male Directors and one female Director. The functions and duties
conferred on the Board include: overseeing the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance, promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs, convening
Shareholders” meetings and reporting on the work of the Board to the
Shareholders at Shareholders’ meetings as may be required by the
applicable laws, implementing resolutions passed at Shareholders’
meetings, determining the Company’s business plans and investment
plans, formulating the Company’s annual budget and final accounts,
formulating the Company’s proposals for dividend and bonus
distributions as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties
as conferred on it by the Articles and the applicable laws. The senior
management is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the
Board to oversee the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group, and will report back and obtain prior Board approval before
making key investment decisions.
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The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company, and to consider and approve the
overall strategies and policies of the Company. The composition of the
Board and attendance of individual Directors at the meetings of the
Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee during the Year are as follows:

Directors g3

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Ren Weiming (Chairman of the Board) TREREL EFELE)

Mr. Shen Yueming WAL

Mr. Zhang Hongwen RBN KL

Ms. Shen Hong LBLL

Non-executive Director FRITES

Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert BERELE

Independent non-executive Directors BUFRTES

Mr. Lau Ying Kit BmpEL
(Chairman of the Audlit Committee) (BRZEEETE)

Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson BEELE
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) ESZEEETE)

Mr. Yan Jianmiao BERLE

(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) FHZEEEE/E)
Apart from regular Board meetings, the chairman of the Board also

held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of the other Directors during the Year.
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The biographical details of the current Board members are set out
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on
page 24 of this annual report. Save as otherwise disclosed, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between any members of the Board or senior
management of the Company.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise, and the
independent non-executive Directors represented over one-third of
the Board.

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors a written confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the Year and
remain so as at the date of this annual report.

All Board members have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management to fulfil their duties and, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All Directors
also have access to the company secretary who is responsible for
ensuring that the Board procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations, are followed. An agenda and accompanying Board/
committee papers are distributed to the Directors/Board committee
members with reasonable notice in advance of the relevant meetings.
Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees,
which record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board/
committee and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by
the Directors or dissenting views expressed, are kept by the company
secretary and are available for inspection by the Directors.
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Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years and be eligible for re-election. In accordance
with article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Ren Weiming, Mr. Shen Yueming
and Mr. Zhang Hongwen shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. All retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Every Director must always know their responsibilities as a Director of
the Company and the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. Given the essential unitary nature of the board,
non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill and
fiduciary duties as executive Directors.

Newly appointed Directors of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment from
the legal advisors of the Company. Subsequently, they will also
receive briefings and professional development trainings necessary
to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and are fully aware of their responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Exchange Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the
Directors in relation to the financial statements, should be read
in conjunction with, but be distinguished from, the Independent
Auditors” Report on page 86 which states the reporting responsibilities
of the Group’s auditors.
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Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare financial
statements for each financial year, which gives a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group, and present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in annual and interim reports and other
financial disclosures required by the Exchange Listing Rules.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the
Group has used appropriate accounting policies that are consistently
applied, and that all applicable accounting standards have been
followed.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and which enable the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622, Laws of Hong Kong) and the
applicable accounting standards.

Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

The Company does not have any officer with the title of “chief
executive officer”. However, Mr. Ren Weiming, who acts as the
chairman of the Company, is also responsible for overseeing the
general operations of the Group. The Board meets regularly to
consider major matters affecting the operations of the Company.
The Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management of
the Company and is conducive to strong and consistent leadership,
enabling the Company to operate efficiently.
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The chairman is to provide leadership for the Board and to take
primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established. The chairman should ensure
that the board works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in a timely
manner. The chairman will ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and ensure that all
Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate information, which
must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable.

The chairman is to encourage all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that
it acts in the best interests of the Company, to encourage Directors
with different views to voice their concerns, allow sufficient time for
discussion of issues and ensure that Board decisions fairly reflect the
Board’s consensus.

The chairman is to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with the Shareholders and that their views
are communicated to the Board as a whole, and to promote a culture
of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution
of non-executive Directors in particular and ensuring constructive
relationship between executive and non-executive Directors. The
chairman held a meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors during the Year.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The functions of non-executive directors include:

(@)  participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conduct;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
remuneration and nomination

(c) serving on the audit,
committees, if invited; and

(d)  scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring performance
reporting.

Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert, a non-executive Director, renewed his
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years with an
annual remuneration of HK$120,000 on 1 January 2022.

Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson and Mr. Lau Ying Kit, who are
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, renewed
their appointments with the Company on the same terms with an
annual remuneration of HK$120,000 and HK$144,000 respectively
for another three years on 1 January 2022. Mr. Yan Jianmiao was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2016. Mr. Yan has
renewed his appointment with the Company for a term of three years
with similar terms as other independent non-executive Directors with
an annual remuneration of HK$120,000 with effect on 30 May 2022.
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MECHANISM TO ENSURE BOARD INDEPENDENCE

Mr. Lau Ying Kit has been serving as an independent non-executive
Director since his appointment on 13 November 2006 and Mr.
LO Kwong Shun Wilson has been serving as an independent non-
executive Director since his appointment on 17 May 2010.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure and
composition of the Board, the confirmations and disclosures given by
each of the retiring Directors, the qualifications, skills and experience,
time commitment and contribution of each of the retiring Directors
with reference to the nomination principles and criteria set out in the
Company’s board diversity policy, the director nomination policy and
the corporate strategy. The Nomination Committee has recommended
to the Board that the re-election of all retiring Directors and
continuous appointments of independent non-executive Directors
who have served for more than nine years will bring considerable
stability to the Board.

Mr. Lau Ying Kit has extensive experience in the accounting field. His
participation in the Board brings independent judgments on issues
relating to the Group’s accounts, internal controls, risk management,
nominations of directors, conflicts of interests and other management
matters. Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson has extensive experience in
the corporate finance field. His participation in the Board brings
independent judgments on issues relating to the Group’s corporate
finance, accounting, internal control, risk management, nomination
of directors, conflict of interests and other management matters.

The Board also noted that each of Mr. Lau Ying Kit and Mr. Lo Kwong
Shun Wilson had not engaged in any executive management of the
Group. Taking into consideration of each of their independent scope
of work in the past years, the Directors considered each of Mr. Lau
Ying Kit and Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson to be independent under the
Listing Rules despite the fact that each of Mr. Lau Ying Kit and Mr. Lo
Kwong Shun Wilson had been serving the Company for more than
nine years and would continue to bring valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning and diversity.

The further appointment of Mr. Lau Ying Kit and Mr. Lo Kwong
Shun Wilson who have served for more than nine years have been
approved by separate resolutions by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting held on 2 June 2023 with additional disclosures in
accordance with the CG Code.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, the Directors were provided with regular updates
on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In
addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company updates the Directors on the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices. During
the Year, the Company arranged a training on latest changes on CG
Code and Listing Rules, with topics covering recent changes to the
listing rules and listing rules requirements in connection with loans to
third parties, for Directors’ continuous professional development. All
Directors attended the training.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE
AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors and officers in respect of legal actions against them. During
the Year, no claim had been made against the Directors and officers of
the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Chan Yan Kwan Andy, the company secretary
of the Company, a Chartered Secretary and a Chartered Governance
Professional, attended relevant professional training for not less than
15 hours.

Mr. Chan is an employee of the Group and reports to the chairman
of the Board. All Directors have access to the advice and services
of the company secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all
applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company were established
with defined written terms of reference and report their findings
and recommendations to the Board after each meeting of the Board
committees. An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions and whether they are independent non-executive Directors,
and the terms of reference of the Board committees are provided on
the website of the Company and on the Stock Exchange’s website and
are available to the Shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out under the section titled
“Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of
reference prepared by reference to the requirements under the
code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee are to consider and recommend to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors and senior management. The remuneration of all
Directors and senior management is subject to regular monitoring
by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang
Hongwen, Mr. Yan Jianmiao (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every year
to review the remuneration policy and structure and determine
the annual remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
the senior executives and other related matters. The Remuneration
Committee shall make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration.
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One Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the Year. At
the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved
the remuneration of the Directors, after comparing with that of the
directors of similar textile companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
The Remuneration Committee reviewed the share schemes of the
Company (i.e. share option scheme and share award plan) during the
Year.

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee at the said meetings is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors EEU4

Mr. Zhang Hongwen RIBX L

Mr. Yan Jianmiao (Chairman) BEGLE (EE)
Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson mERERE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee (the “NC”) has adopted written terms of
reference prepared by reference to the requirements under the code
provision B.3.1 of the CG Code which is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary functions of
the NC are to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
review the Board’s diversity policy and to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, based on skills, knowledge and
experience, to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The
NC also determined the policy for the nomination of Directors and
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
by the NC to select and recommend candidates for directorship.
The NC comprises of one executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Shen Yueming, Mr. Lau Ying
Kit and Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson (chairman of the Nomination
Committee).
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One meeting was held during the Year. At the meeting, the NC
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
Board’s diversity policy. The attendance record of each member of the
NC at the said meeting is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors EXNA

Mr. Shen Yueming L EERR S A

Mr. Lau Ying Kit EESHS S

Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson (Chairman) BREERE (EE)

Nomination Policy

Objective

The NC shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to
consider and make recommendations to shareholders for election
as Directors including independent non-executive Directors of the
Company (the “INEDs”) at general meetings or appoint as Directors
including INEDs to fill casual vacancies.

The NC may, as it considers appropriate, nominate a number of
candidates more than the number of Directors to be appointed or
reappointed at a general meeting, or the number of casual vacancies
to be filled.

The ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors
rests with the Board.

Selection Criteria
The factors listed below would be used as reference by the NC in

assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate.

o Reputation for integrity

J Accomplishment and experience in the textile industry
o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
J Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,

age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service
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These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
nor decisive. The NC has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

Retiring INEDs are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have served as
INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years, such retiring INEDs
may stand for re-election at a general meeting subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting.
For the avoidance of doubt, the nine-year period for determining the
independence of an INED for nomination by the Board to stand for
re-election at a general meeting would count from his/her date of first
appointment as an INED until the date of the general meeting.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written consent
to be appointed as an INED and to the public disclosure of their
personal data on any documents or the relevant websites for the
purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as an INED.

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the NC shall call a meeting of the NC, and
invite nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the NC prior to its meeting. The NC may also put
forward candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the NC shall make recommendations for
the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing candidates
to stand for election at a general meeting, the NC shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the publication of the circular to the Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
recommended by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting.
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In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, a circular will
be sent to Shareholders. The circular to Shareholders will set out
the names, brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant
experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, of the proposed candidates.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company Secretary.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available, the
“highest number of votes” method will be used to determine who
shall be elected as an INED.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

BOARD DIVERSITY REVIEW AND POLICY

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to, textile industry experience,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on the merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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During the Year, the NC had reviewed and compared the diversity of
the Board with all the listed companies in Hong Kong, in terms of the
number of directors a board has, the number of INEDs, the board’s
gender and average age. The NC also reviewed the professional
qualification and expertise of all the Directors. The Board is of the
view that board diversity has been achieved. The Board’s composition
(together with details on the Directors’ textile industry experience,
age, gender and holding of office in textile association) is as follows:

Name

e

REN Weiming

R4S

SHEN Yueming

ML

ZHANG Hongwen
R

SHEN Hong

NGAN Kam Wai Albert
e

LAU Ying Kit

G

LO Kwong Shun Wilson
RERE

YAN Jianmiao

BEH

Measurable objectives

Textile Industry
experience

AT RAEER

Yes
=
Yes
=
Yes
B
Yes
=
Yes

No
T~
=
No
I~
=
No
I~
| )

Age
Fe

64
62
57
57
75
50
50

58

The Company’s measurable objectives of the Board diversity policy

are as follows:

1) At least half of the members of the Board should have textile

industry experience.

2)  Atleast one Director should hold office/honorary title in textile
association(s) in order to ensure the Company receive first-
hand information about the development and challenges of the

industry.
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3) There must be one female Director at the minimum. Gender
is not the primary consideration subject to the Company’s
compliance with any applicable requirements. The primary
consideration of Board member candidates will be based on
the merit and the contribution the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

With seven male Directors and one female Director currently in the
Board, the board gender diversity is considered achieved. The Board
and NC will continue considering potential successors to the Board to
maintain or enhance gender diversity.

Gender diversity of general workforce

As at 31 December 2023, Kingdom had 3,700 employees,
including those from the production, research and development and
management teams. Female staff accounted for approximately 62% of
the workforce as the production of linen yarn calls for a relative high
degree of attentiveness and deftness which is more common with
women, and the majority of them are between the ages of 31 and 50.

The general workforce is considered to be with proper gender
diversity.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules 3.21
and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group
as well as the Group’s internal audit function and to provide advice
and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee is responsible for determining the policy for the
corporate governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties as below:

J to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

J to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements (where
applicable);
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J to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Group; and

J to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Lau Ying
Kit, Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson and Mr. Yan Jianmiao, all of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lau Ying Kit, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters, was appointed as the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings. At the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s relationship
with the external auditor, discussed with the Company’s external
auditor on the tasks performed by them including the nature and
scope of their audit and reporting obligations, and reviewed the terms
of engagement and their remuneration, reviewed the Company’s final
results for the year ended 31 December 2022, interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the continuing connected
transactions with the external auditors, and communicated with the
external auditors twice without the presence of the management in
2023. The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the internal
audit report and considered the effectiveness of the Group's internal
audit function. The attendance record of each member of the Audit
Committee at the said meetings is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors EEUS

Mr. Lau Ying Kit (Chairman) BIRGRE (ZE)
Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson BEELE

Mr. Yan Jianmiao BRZEALE

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, the Group’s internal
control functions, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
internal control and risk management, the compliance with the
Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.
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The Directors are collectively responsible for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which have been
prepared on a going concern basis and in compliance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. There has been no disagreement
between the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the
selection and appointment of the external auditors.

AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.

Management has provided sufficient explanation and information to
the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial
and other information put before it for approval. Management
accounts with both financial and operational data were circulated
to all Directors on a monthly basis to give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of
the Listing Rules.

The Company has in place a sound and effective internal control
system to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group's
assets. The Company has an internal audit function. The Audit
Committee is entrusted by the Board to monitor the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems on
an ongoing basis so as to ensure that the internal control and
risk management systems in place, including the resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes, accounting,
internal audit, compliance and financial reporting functions of the
Company are adequate.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

EFHFEERFECERE WBR LHRR
WREERREEFNEGHYBTRE LBEERE
BB —F EFZREBERZEGZHILE
Dk

Bz ABEEREREE

EZERHARTNERF KRR RATRETF
oy~ B R R E AT o

EEBENESTZRUAINRERER U2
HEmE mEIR 2 UL ENB B R EMERE
THBETFH BV ENESHIENEIRRES
BREFTERER URDHABMBEAERNRE
W R RIS ETFERZRERNTE U
REREEERSEEEMETER EHRAE
3.08(8 R E13EZE IR S -

FABDHEARE RAEBHABEIZERR  RIER
RREURTERNEE SRR EARNEES
BE-BRZEEREFTET I FEERETE
BB R & B R E IR R A AR MR R A
NEETREEEREAREERG  SEEHH
BER BTERKREE HII5t8 g5t REE
5t GRS R IR AE



Corporate Governance Report

The Company has established written policies and procedures
applicable to all operating units to ensure the effectiveness of internal
controls. The risk management and internal control systems are
reviewed on a half-yearly basis. The Company also has a process
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks (including
ESG risks) associated with the achievement of its operational
objectives. The day-to-day operation of the Company is entrusted to
the individual department, which is accountable for its own conduct
and performance, and is required to strictly adhere to the policies set
by the Board/Audit Committee. The Company carries out reviews on
the effectiveness of the internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls from time to time in order to
ensure that they are able to meet and deal with the dynamic and ever
changing business environment.

The Company has established an optimized risk management and
internal control system consisting of the Board, Audit Committee,
management team, internal control and all departments of the
Company. In respect of risk management and internal control, all
departments of the Company are the first line of defence, the internal
control and management teams are the second line of defence, and
the Audit Committee of the Board is the third line of defence. The
Board is ultimately responsible for the development of a sound risk
management and internal control system of the Company and the
effective implementation of risk management, and is the highest
decision-making authority for risk management and internal control
of the Company.

The primary objective of risk management is to have all the business
risks effectively identified, measured, analysed and controlled, such
as having them measured against defined limits, monitored, reported
and managed (including mitigation of risks), followed by the pursuit
of business development on the premise of keeping risks in check.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Audit Committee conducted review and assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems twice during
the Year including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management.
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During the Year, the Company scrutinized and identified potential
risks associated with its corporate structure and business operation by
executing basic risk management procedures in all key operations.
A risk register of the Company was established to gain substantial
information on its overall risk characteristics, providing a solid
foundation for risk management and internal control.

The Company conducted an analysis and assessment on the identified
risks based on their possibility and influence, so as to determine the
risk levels and identify the significant risks faced by the Company.
A summary of key risks identified from the perspective of global
economy, industry and company level was reviewed and discussed
by the Audit Committee and the Board.

Based on the review of the results of risk management and internal
control, no material failure or weakness was found in respect of
risk monitoring during the Year. The management procedures of
financial reports and information disclosure of the Company were in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control of the Company to be effective and
adequate during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of its
obligations under Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules and the SFO and
the overriding principle that any inside information of the Company
should be announced as soon as practicable. The Company reviews
from time to time its internal guidelines on inside information with
reference to its own and industry circumstances and the Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission.

The Company’s policy contains a strict prohibition on unauthorized
use of confidential or inside information. The Chairman and the chief
financial officer of the Company are the key spokespersons of the
Company in all external media communications.

The purpose of streamlining the communications of the Group with
the media is to regulate all media communication activities, protect
the interests of the Company and keep inside information strictly
confidential prior to its disclosure.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

Kingdom also advocates the principles of integrity, honesty, equity
and compliance in the communication and conduct of its entire staff.
It strictly requires its staff to:

J reject any bribe, unfair competition, malpractice and
embezzlement of corporate assets;

J refuse to do anything harmful to the Company, the environment
and the society; and

J refrain from receiving or offering bribes, illegal political
contributions or improper donations, events, gift or services.

Kingdom maintains detailed operating procedures, codes of
conduct and reward and punishment systems, and makes sure all its
employees understand the importance of and uphold integrity and
ethics.

Staff can report to their immediate superiors, the human resource
department and the top-ranking executives with respect to any non-
compliance such as breach or dereliction of duty, abuse of power,
receiving bribes or embezzlement of corporate property by means
of mail, electronic mail or phone. The issue will then be reported
to the human resources department or the Audit Committee for
investigation, collection of evidence, verification and resolution, and
upon verification will be handled in accordance with the law.

Topics of anti-bribery and anti-corruption are covered in staff trainings
and the same are included in the employee regulations section of the
staff handbook.

During the Year, there was no reported case in relation to corruption,
bribery, blackmail, fraud and money-laundering, legal actions for
anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and monopoly practices.
Kingdom will adhere to its corporate ethics and uphold its reputation
to prevent corruption. There were also no illegal activities or relevant
fine or punishment made against the Group in respect of products,
human rights or the society. No political contribution was made in
2023.
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WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY/GRIEVANCE CHANNEL
In order to protect the legitimate rights and interests of employees,
strengthen the effective communication between the employees and
the company’s management, timely communicate and implement
rules and regulations formulated by the company, discover and
deal with various hidden problems, establish a harmonious,
stable, and united labor relationship and create a good corporate
culture, and for individuals to seek advice and raise concerns about
responsible business conduct in the Group’s operations and business
relationships, Kingdom has adopted a whistle-blowing policy, with
the following principles:

° Legal, fair and just;

J Equal dialogue and engagement;
J Transparent and barrier-free;

° No retaliation;

o Confidential;

J Simple and easy to use.

The grievance channels include suggestion box, notice board
displaying various channels to air grievances, telephone, mobile
phone, email (complain@kingdom-china.com) and WeChat. We
promise that we will handle any complaint within 10 working days.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the Year, the remuneration paid to the Company’s external
auditors, Ernst & Young, is as follows:

Services rendered AR
Audit Services EIZARTE
Tax services RIEARTS

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to the 2023
financial statements are set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditors” Report” on page 86. Save as disclosed above and in the
section headed “Independent Auditors” Report”, the Company did not
engage Ernst & Young for any non-audit services during the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing all
information and representations contained in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the operating
results and cash flow for the year. The Directors consider that the
financial statements have been prepared in conformity with all
applicable accounting standards and requirements and reflect
amounts that are based on the best estimates, reasonable information
and prudent judgment of the Board and the management. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of the
Group on a going concern basis.

The statements of the auditor of the Group about its reporting
responsibility on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 86 of this
annual report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Within the knowledge of the Board, there have been sufficient public
float of not fewer than 25% of number of total outstanding shares of
the Company according to the “Disclosure of Interests” records at the
website of the Stock Exchange, as of 31 December 2023 and as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(i) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) (including
making proposals/moving a resolution at the EGM to be
called by the Board)

o Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition, including putting
forward proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM.

J Eligible Shareholders who wish to require an EGM to be called
by the Board for the purpose of making proposals or moving
a resolution at the EGM must deposit a written requisition (the
“Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at 5/F, Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.
The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the
Company, the reason(s) for convening an EGM, the agenda
of the EGM including the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted at the EGM, and signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned.
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The Company will check the Requisition, and the identity and
the shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified
by the Company’s branch share registrar. If the Requisition is
found to be proper and in order, the Company Secretary will
ask the Board to convene an EGM within two months and/or
include the proposal or the resolution proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder at the EGM after the deposit of the Requisition. On
the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as being not in
order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not convene an
EGM and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board
has not advised the Eligible Shareholder(s) of any outcome to
the contrary and fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the
Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so
in accordance with the Articles, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at 5/F, Manulife Place, 348
Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post or email
to ir@kingdom-china.com for the attention of the investors
relation department of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS MEETINGS

Shareholders are given sufficient notice of Shareholders meetings and

the chairman of a meeting will ensure that an explanation is provided

of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer any

questions from Shareholders on voting by poll.

For each substantially separate issue at a general meeting, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting.

All Directors (including the chairman of the Board, the Audit

Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee) are expected to attend the annual general meeting to
answer questions at the annual general meeting.

(ii)
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CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, there was no change in the constitutional
documents.

The full text of the current Memorandum and the new Articles have
been published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange on 27 May 2022.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group firmly believes the importance of communicating with
the investment community and the Shareholders in attaining a high
level of transparency. Since its listing, the Group has maintained
various communication channels with analysts and fund managers
such as one-on-one meetings, telephone communications, and press
releases. The general meetings of the Company provide a platform
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as Chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit Committee or if, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees, and
where applicable, the independent board committee, are available
to answer questions at the Shareholders’ meetings. The Company
endeavours to provide timely and accurate information to the
investors to enhance the understanding of the investors about the
linen industry, as well as the business development strategy and
direction of the Group.

In light of the above, the Group considers that the Group’s current
Shareholders” communication policy is effective. The Group will
continue to maintain a close relationship with investors and develop
greater understanding about the Group for international investors, to
enhance investors’ confidence in the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the market capitalisation of the Company
was approximately HK$799,691,060 based on 629,678,000 Shares

outstanding at the closing price of HK$1.27 per Share.

The details of the substantial Shareholders of the Company can be
found on page 38 of this annual report.
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CONTACT DETAILS
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Kingdom Holdings Limited
5/F, Manulife Place
348 Kwun Tong Road
Kowloon, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Investor Relations Department)

Fax: +852 3628 2284
Email: ir@kingdom-china.com
DISCLAIMER

The contents of the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for
reference and disclosure compliance purposes only. The information
does not represent and should not be regarded as legal or other
professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other
professional advice as to their rights as shareholders of the Company.
The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred by its
Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed
“Shareholders’ Rights”.
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To the shareholders of Kingdom Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingdom
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 92 to 200, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
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accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

FRESNEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZERAEBE PR AIEEE

Assessment on impairment for non-current assets

FETB) B ERY B E Y

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and other
intangible assets was RMB1,043 million in aggregate,
which represented 32% of the Group’s total assets. As
the carrying amount of the Group’s net assets was higher
than the Company’s market capitalisation, management
performed an impairment test on its non-current assets.
This assessment requires management to make certain key
assumptions, such as cash flow projections covering a five-
year period, the future growth rate and the discount rate,
which are highly judgemental.
R_BE_=ZF+_B=+—H "X -BEERXRHE"
EAREERAEMETLEENRESHEGHE/SARE
1,043,000,00070 16 BEEEBEMER32% AR &
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ETHARRR MAEHRSAETRA  RRERXKR
REIFREEH -

Detailed information about the significant accounting
judgements and estimates on impairment for non-current
assets is provided in note 3 to the financial statements.
BRAFRBEERENERSSHHIE RESNFEER
PR R R M EE3 IR o

Our audit procedures included assessing the identification
of cash-generating units and key assumptions, including
those related to future increases in expected growth
rates, turnover and discount rates, projection periods and
disposal values of the non-current assets at the end of
the projection period applied. In performing our audit
procedures, we involved our internal valuation specialists
to assist us in assessing the valuation methodology used
and the key assumptions applied and performed sensitivity
analyses on the key assumptions.
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We also reviewed the historical financial performance
of the business units and compared it with the original
forecasts when evaluating management’s budgeting
process. We have also reviewed the relevant disclosures in
the financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BT R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matter. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Shun Lung Wai.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BHEmR

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HE_E_=—F+_FH=+—HILFEZE

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

(Impairment losses)/Reversal of
impairment losses on financial assets

Other expenses

Finance costs

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic

Diluted

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

EH
Hm &S m

HERDIH
THR

TREE (REBE RE

ap LB
HAthFAs<
A RS

HE—XMBARN[Fm

FRIRATEF
PRSI
FREF

M THIEE R

ISYNCIE 2SN
FREERI M R

SYNSIE=$E) 0 s
BEAERGESREF

E=%iN

Notes
HaE

29

10

12

12

2023 2022
—E-= —E2-

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARMEFIT
2,445,428 2,021,055
(2,033,940) (1,634,155)
411,488 386,900

18,927 54,431
(42,229) (41,532)
(116,078) (119,013)

(4,568) 586
(9,549) (13,192)

(36,800) (33,852)

= 500

221,191 234,828
(58,401) (63,020)

162,790 171,808

163,611 175,696

(821) (3,888)
AE¥RMB0.277C AR BERMB0.297T
AR #RMB0.277T AR BERMB0.297T




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BEHEEWNER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #E T _ =+ _F=+—HIFFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income that may be
reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

FREF

R E R AR B
EMOBERTM
Hh 2 E

ME BN EFHIE T AR

FRATEKRERER

M TIIRE R :
(SYNCIE/Z=PN
FEEERI M R

2023 2022
2= i i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETIT
162,790 171,808
250 (3,081)
163,040 168,727
163,861 172,615
(821) (3,888)
163,040 168,727
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHMBIRRR

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets

Other intangible assets
Investment in an associate
Prepayments for equipment
Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and notes receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and notes payables

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Dividends payable

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES
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FREBEE

Y ENNEYSE
REY*E

ERESE
HtWEREE
R—RBERTHKRE
RETEMNTE
BEIERIEE &
HitIPRe & E

IFREBBEERE

MEEE

=8

TR B 5 SR R R 45

AT RS REMER
IR

BEIRIRER

RERREFEY

MEEERE

nEMER

BB SRR RENRE
HEMRERERER
SHREIRITRAEMBE

RS
FE(SIRIA

neaEEER
MBEEFE
BEERERRBAER

Notes
bz

13
14
15
16
17

18

19
20

21

22
22

23
24

25

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
== —E2-—
+-—HB=+—H +—BA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
971,977 1,075,398
3,933 4,533
65,378 68,815
5,316 6,173
25,000 =
1,715 1,082
3,303 8,473
17,338 3,407
1,093,960 1,167,881
1,019,545 685,180
558,356 426,267
90,059 96,225
66,444 61,900
454,812 467,469
2,189,216 1,737,041
587,651 367,096
183,019 228,094
833,806 696,344
476 307
21,400 27,866
1,626,352 1,319,707
562,864 417,334
1,656,824 1,585,215




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHMBINRR

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E=F s
+-A=+—8H +ZA=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Vg3 ARETT AREETFTT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERERTBEE
LIABILITIES 1,656,824 1,585,215
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERBAR
Deferred tax liabilities FIEMIAS A 18 33,892 40,666
Interest-bearing bank and STEIRITREMBES
other borrowings 25 35,720 56,559
Total non-current liabilities ERENEELERE 69,612 97,225
Net assets EERE 1,587,212 1,487,990
EQUITY gy
Equity attributable to owners of [SYNCIE 2PN SE
the parent
Share capital &N 26 6,329 6,329
Treasury shares [EFR D 27 (13,305) (13,305)
Reserves BNt 28 1,522,981 1,412,964
1,516,005 1,405,988
Non-controlling interests SRR TS 71,207 82,002
Total equity R AR EE 1,587,212 1,487,990
Ren Weiming Shen Yueming
1E4EFR L
Director Director
BFE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BEHEZEHER

Year ended 31 December 2023 # %

At31 December 2021

Profit for the year
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Transfer from retained profits

Capital contribution from
non-controlling shareholders

Final 2021 dividend declared

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2022

Profit for the year
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
for the year
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Transfer from retained profits
Final 2022 dividend declared

At 31 December 2023

*

BIBZ-%
+ZBA=+-A

ERiEF

BEBIEENERER

ERZEUEER

BEARZET
FERRRTE

EER-E-—FXERE

RZB-—&
+-A=+-A

RZBZZE
tZA=1-H

FRiaf]

REBEBNERZE

ERRANRAE
- E3usilia 4o
BRERTERN
BER-E__FXBRE

RIBZ=F
+ZA=1+-H

statement of financial position.
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FrZBA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BREERAELR

Non-
Issued Share Treasury Merger  Statutory Other  Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

E(zlid
BETRE  ROEE EERG  AHEE  ATEE  EMER  ERRE  RIER a5t Bi  BaRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
6,329 269,226 (13,305) 196,019 157,628 758 (12,384) 001,455 1,265,726 84,890 1,350,616
- - - - - - - 175,696 175,696 (3,888) 171,808
- - - - - - (3,081) - 3,081) - (3,081)
- - - - - - (3,081) 175,696 172,615 (3,888) 168,727
- - - - 18,724 - - s - - -
- - - - - - - - - 1,000 1,000
= = = = = = = (32,353) (32,353) = (32,353)
6,329 269,226* (13,305) 196,019* 176,352* 758* (15,4657 786,074* 1,405,988 82,002 1,487,990

Attributable to owners of the parent
BAFREAAEE

Non-
Issued Share  Treasury Merger  Statutory Other  Exchange  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

321
BEfTks  RMERE BERG  AfHE  ZERG  HbEE  ERER  REE 5t i EHAE
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
6329 269226 (13305 196019 176352 758 (15465 786,074 1405988 82,002 1,487,990
- o = = - - - 163,611 163,611 (821) 162,790
- - - - - - 250 - 250 - 250
- - - - - - 250 163,611 163,861 (821) 163,040
- - - (2,026) - - - - (2,026) 9,974) (12,000)
- - - - 20,402 - - (20409 - - -
. : ) ; ; . - G188 (1819) - 61819
6329 269226*  (13305)  193,993*  19,754* 758 (15215 877465 1,516,005 71,207 1587212

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB1,522,981,000 (2022: RMB1,412,964,000) in the consolidated

* ZERFEROITEHIHENRTRN S HEE
ANEB#1,522,981,0007 (ZEZ—4F : ARK
1,412,964,0007T) °



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BHFEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HE_—E_ =+ _FH=+—HIFFEZ

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KtaE ARETT ARBF T
CASH FLOWS FROM REEHNRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BRIR B Im A 221,191 234,828
Adjustments for: M EFIBEELREE
Fair value gain on derivative TETENAREE
instruments (S
— transactions not qualifying as hedges — T EERIFEH T
M35 7 - (1,275)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y2 BB sk i A T
equipment and investment properties REYEITE 13,14 101,853 104,772
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 15 3,949 4,226
Amortisation of other intangible assets HAth i\ A2 & E #8H 16 857 703
Provision for impairment of inventories FERERHE 7 14,983 29,144
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYZE KRB K& HE
plant and equipment EHEEE 7 2,757 11,110
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) FEWE 2 BRRURIE,
for trade receivables CR{EE[E) 20 4,568 (586)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—XRNBLTN
Sm 29 - (500)
Finance costs RSN 6 36,800 33,852
Bank interest income RITHI S WA 5 (4,526) (2,173)
382,432 414,101
Increase in inventories FEE (349,348) (85,103)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and FEUR B 5 BR 7R K FE R
notes receivables Ty g e (136,657) 87,051
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, AN RS R EMAEL
deposits and other receivables IR (g 15,466 (4,006)
Proceeds from pledged deposits BRI ER BT IS I 340,676 395,651
New pledged deposits S BIIRER (380,220) (412,821)
Increase in trade and notes payables FET 8 2 IR FE 1
FEIREM 220,555 73,176
Increase in other payables and accruals H At TR IE K TR
EREMm 39,085 22,760
Cash generated from operations KEEEANRE 131,989 490,809
Interest received BUF] 2 4,526 2,173
Income tax paid BEPER (66,471) (42,805)
Net cash flows generated from operating ~ &EEBELENIRE
activities TR ER 70,044 450,177

Kingdom Holdings Limited £ZZERAERAE 97
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHRERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _—E_ =4+ _F=+—HIFFE

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment
Increase in leasehold land deposits
Purchase of right-of-use assets
Disposal of a subsidiary

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Principal portion of lease payments

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Dividends paid

Net cash flows generated from/(used in)
financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FFiR

REZINHEERE

BEYX BEKRRHE
BEURELEE
HEYE BB KRRE
BB WP 1SMRIE
FE L RS
REEREEE
HE—RWBAT

REZPAANRE
MEFER

MEZHNHEERE

FERKREREE
MEBIRITEM
BEERITEM
BNFE
HERENAZE D

WS IR I M R
BKRE

MEFBEL FTA) B
REMEFR

RERBEEEY
mL) Y8 N8R

FONREKRFEEEY

P12 1 5 3 4

FEREEREZEEN

2023 2022

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARETIT ARETFIT
(91,223) (49,890)

7,107 7,342

(5,131) —
- (2,393)

29 (8,100) 20,360
(97,347) (24,581)

- 1,000

1,079,989 970,624

(961,693) (1,102,739)

(37,894) (38,805)

300b) (2,185) (2,110)
(12,000) —

(51,818) (32,353)

14,399 (204,383)

(12,904) 221,213

467,469 249,213

247 (2,957)

454,812 467,469




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Kingdom Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 21
July 2006. The Company’s shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 12
December 2006.

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of linen yarn.

The Company’s registered address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands; and the principal place of business is located at 5/F,

1.

Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of company

PAGIELE

Overseas Kingdom Limited

Overseas Kingdom Limited

Kingdom Group Holdings Limited

(“Hong Kong Kingdom”)

TEEEERARAR
(EBEE)

Zhejiang Jinyuan Flax Co., Ltd.

FIEnEMmARAR

Place and date of
establishment

and nature

of legal entity
BRI &S R BB R
REERNYE

British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
26 July 2006
Limited liability company
HBREUHE
(HBELHE))
ZEZRFEAZ A
BRAR

Hong Kong, China
10 September 2004
Limited liability company
hEEE
—ZZRENRTAH
BRATF

PRC
18 March 2003
Wholly-foreign
owned enterprise

hE
“EE-F=F+/\R>
SEBELE

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
BETEAER
mfE/ RS

HK$0.01/ HK$500

0.017878,/50087T

HK$1,250,000

1,250,000 75

US$70,000,000

70,000,000 75

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

REAREERER
TEZERERATIN BB NELA
Tt+—-HEREHEEMAIAEREE
[RAB e RABRMGNR_EETRNE+_A
+THEEABMAERFZFBRAE (MB2
Frl) Eme

FEBFBEUEEERBEDRRMY

RAB W MMA A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands; EF &
SERMBANUNREBNEHEE3485 R
FE 5518

BRI BARNER
RTRABNBRABFBEMT :

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company  Principal activities

FARELEET AL TEER
Direct Indirect
HiE %
100% - Investment holding
100% - REER
- 100%  Investment holding and
trading
= 100% REZEEREZ
- 100%  Manufacture and sale of
linen yarn
= 100% 4ERFEETMY
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B I 55 R R M 5

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RABKREERER @

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of
establishment

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

ERMEBATNER @

and nature registered Percentage of equity
Name of company of legal entity share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
Bt RE R B HA R BETEAER
AGIETE] AIAERNLE e/ ks AAREGEEEE AL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B ik

Jiangsu Jinyuan Flax Co., Ltd. PRC US$18,500,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
17 October 2003 linen yarn
Limited liability company

IBETERERAT hE 18,500,000% 7% - 100% EERHBEZREL
“ZR=F+A+ER
BIRAR

Zhejiang Kingdom Linen Co., Ltd. ~ PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sale of
28 May 2012 linen yarn
Limited liability company

MIEETRMARAR hE AE#100,000,0007% - 100% EERHEDR
“2—_HFRR"+N\H’
BRAH

Kingdom Europe S.R.L. Italy EUR502,646 - 100%  Trading
7 September 2007
Limited liability company

Kingdom Europe S.R.L. EAA 502,64681 7T - 100% &%
“EtEAALR>
BRAF

Kingdom (Ethiopia) Linen PLC Ethiopia ETB1,859,676,000 = 100%  Manufacture and sale of
16 July 2014 linen yarn
Limited liability company

Kingdom (Ethiopia) Linen PLC BREMLLD 1,859,676,000 = 100% LERHBEZRY
ik =R = E BREBRLETIEE
BRAH

Heilongjiang Kingdom PRC RMB300,000,000 - 78.67%  Manufacture and sale of

Enterprise Co., Ltd. 11 March 2016 linen yarn

Limited liability company

FEIZEMFERAT hE A 300,000,0007% - 7867%  EENSHETRL
“EF=RA+—H
BRAH

Kingdom T Sun (Shanghai) PRC RMB15,000,000 = 80%  Trading

Co., Ltd. 11 October 2019

Limited liability company

TEXR (LB BEARA hE AE%15,000,00070 - 80% B3

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RABKREERER @

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of
establishment

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

ERMEBATNER @

and nature registered Percentage of equity
Name of company of legal entity share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
Bt RE R B HA R BETEAER
AGIETE] AIAERNLE e/ ks AAREGEEEEALT TBEH
Direct Indirect
B ik
Zhejiang Kingdom REEL PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Trading
Textile Co., Ltd. 15 June 2020
Limited liability company
MIEEREHARRAR hE AE#20,000,00075 - 100% B5
“ZT2FRATER.
BIRAR
Heilongjiang Kingdom PRC RMB65,000,000 - 83.59%  Sale of industrial hemp
Hemp Co., Ltd. 12 June 2020
Limited liability company
FEISELGEAMARAT hE AE:#65,000,00070 - 83.59%  SHETEKRR
“ZTRERATZH
BRAF
Heilongjiang Kangyuan Seeds PRC RMB10,000,000 - 62.94%  R&D and sale of
Industry Co., Ltd. 8 August 2017 hemp seeds
Limited liability company
REIRBEXERAT R AE%10,000,00070 - 62.94% B RSHERRRIT

“Z—t®\BN\B’
BRAF

Kingdom Holdings Limited £ZZERAERAE
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for derivative financial
instruments and notes receivables which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000), except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

RBUEE @)

EHEE @

M@ AR EAR BT R RIFROER S HAE
R TIRA - BRER - WEAT
WEEHAERERSZEHIEN HHEES #
AR WHESHARBEEZSFTHRIER
RS-

FFEEERARHEEERGE Bm I
AMAXKEREBNEATBRZE @
MR RENTN G HIRER2HIEH-

WA FENIERER LR fy =8|
BTRAF-—ERNZHEBRERE AJAE
EEENMILARTERNREHNR B
NEEAEREDNEE WLEXEER
RS 5 AMRe

HAEBREHWBATNIEGE BIS
RIEEDEREE (BERSE AaR-EF
JRIERE R IR B IR B 5 MR (E
ARERENARBEREBZTECRHIL
EENEGRIEM BENEME2E KRG
WIS A S BB (LB D I BN AL R
ERHERHEENAGRAMRENHER
HESHOMERmaRE ST QB °

Kingdom Holdings Limited £ZZERAERAE

103



104

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B I 55 R R M 5
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and [FRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@ Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed
the material accounting policy information in note 2
to the financial statements. The amendments did not
have any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since the
Group's approach and policy align with the amendments,
the amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and
a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately, which have
been reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note 18
to the financial statements. However, they did not have
any material impact on the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position as the related deferred tax balances qualified for
offsetting under IAS 12.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B I 55 R R M 5

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

Amendments to |AS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of
deferred taxes arising from the implementation of the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development. The
amendments also introduce disclosure requirements
for the affected entities to help users of the financial
statements better understand the entities” exposure to
Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure of
current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective
and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group
did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to the
Group.
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2.3

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)’

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)’

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
and [FRS 7
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

’ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16
(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments is
permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs
regarding comparative information, quantitative information
as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

2.3

24

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of the associate is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's investment in the associate, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the
associate is included as part of the Group’s investment in an
associate.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement(continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person (i) has control or joint control over
the Group; (ii) has significant influence over the Group;
or (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties(continued)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third party and the
other entity is an associate of the third party;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Plant and buildings 4.5%
Machinery 9.0%
Office equipment 18.0%
Motor vehicles 22.5%

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

The Group’s investment properties are accounted for using
the cost model. The initial recognition and subsequent
measurement of land and buildings that are leased out are
accounted for using the same measurement and depreciation
methods as those of plant and buildings.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end. The useful lives of the patents and
licences and certified emission rights of the Group are 20
years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Research and development costs (continued)

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 to 70 years
Plant and buildings 2 to 12 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in other income in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPP1”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 BEXEHBR @

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining
fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and notes
payables, other payables and accruals, dividends payable, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables,
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and cross-currency swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk. Such derivative financial instruments
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when
the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit
or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

J in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

J in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods.

(@  Sale of linen yarn, hemp yarn and scraps
Revenue from the sale of linen yarn, hemp yarn and
scraps is recognised at the point in time when control of
the goods is transferred to the customers, generally upon
delivery of the goods.

(b)  Other services
Revenue from other services represents the revenue from
freight transportation services, which is recognised over
the transportation period on a straight-line basis.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

Pension scheme

Pursuant to the relevant regulations, the Group has participated
in a local municipal government pension scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the Group is required to contribute a
certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees to the
Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the
Group. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
Scheme is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the
Scheme mentioned above. Contributions under the Scheme
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.
There are no provisions under the Scheme whereby forfeited
contributions may be used to reduce future contributions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non-
monetary item is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item measured at fair
value (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

There is no significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements arising from the judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, made by management
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(a)

Impairment of non-current assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-current assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-current assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The Group identifies that there is only one cash-
generating unit comprising of all property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible
assets as the operation of the Group is managed on
a centralised basis with production allocated across
all factories based on their available capacity. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

The recoverable amount of the non-current assets of
the Group has been determined based on a value in
use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by management. The assumption that has
the most significant impact on the determination of the
recoverable amount of the Group's assets is the discount
rate and growth rate. The pre-tax discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections as at 31 December 2023 was
22%. The growth rate is estimated based on historical
growth rate and future economic environment. The
carrying amount of non-current assets under impairment
testing is RMB1,043 million (2022: RMB1,150 million).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Write-down of inventories

The Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. The Group writes down
its inventories based on estimates of the realisable
value with reference to the age and conditions of the
inventories, together with the economic circumstances
on the marketability of such inventories. Inventories will
be reviewed annually for write-down, if appropriate.
The carrying amount of inventories at 31 December
2023 was RMB1,019,545,000 (2022: RMB685,180,000).
Further details are contained in note 19 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by forms of credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the
financial statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into one
single business unit that is primarily the manufacture and
sale of linen yarn. Management reviews the consolidated
results when making decisions about allocating resources
and assessing the performance of the Group. Accordingly, no
segment analysis is presented.

Geographical information

(@)  Revenue from external customers
An analysis of the Group’s geographical information on
revenue attributed to the regions on the basis of customer
locations for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set
out in the following table:

Mainland China AR B oA B
European Union [ER22]

Other countries/regions HBEIR, &
Total revenue RIS

(b)  Non-current assets

Mainland China H B A B
Ethiopia MR
Total non-current assets ERBEELE

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets
and financial assets.
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DT
Revenue from external customers
KEIMEBERUTA

2023 2022

—E= s
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETTT
1,194,237 774,455
468,957 552,726
782,234 693,874
2,445,428 2,021,055

b) FRBEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
733,987 790,849
344,870 368,559
1,078,857 1,159,408
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about a major customer

No revenue amounting to 10 percent or more of the Group’s
total revenue was derived from sales to a single customer for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue from contracts with customers, which is also the
Group’s turnover, represents the sales value of linen yarn,
hemp yarn and scraps, net of sales tax and deduction of any
sales discounts and returns. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of linen yarn, hemp yarn and scraps and
payment is generally due within 30 to 150 days from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required.

An analysis of revenue from contracts with customers is as
follows:

EmEiRFER

Type of goods or services
Sale of linen yarn, hemp yarn and scraps

Other services HA AR

Total revenue from contracts BEREHWA4ELE
with customers

Timing of revenue recognition Ui A T 50 By

RE-RHEENG
B B R 12 (A O AR5

ER SN AKRER

Goods transferred at a point in time
Services provided over time

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting period was RMB49,377,000
(2022: RMB16,955,000).
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REDEER @
ERAXFERERNER
REBEE_ET_=—"F+_F=+—HILH
B rUERE-—FRETHHERAMGD
EBEBWAI0%TUE CEZ—F  H)o

WANEthmKkiEmE

BEREHWA (FENASEEE ) 55T
W0~ KRR AD R BER 98 & (E1E » ASHNBRIFE
MEINBEAEERINREZ BOEME
AT TERRAD ~ RRFFAD K BERIBE 52 > BFX
IEEEEBARTEI0E1508 T R
EREEAENIRIE

ZERENEARDTNT :

2023 2022
—E8-= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
2,415,036 1,966,803

30,392 54,252
2,445,428 2,021,055
2,415,036 1,966,803

30,392 54,252
2,445,428 2,021,055

TRt ARSI ENEaENIRAS
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16,955,0007T) °
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5.

The information about the remaining performance obligations

for contracts with original expected duration of one year or less

is not disclosed as a practical expedient under [FRS 15.

Other income and gains

Foreign exchange differences, net
Government grants*

Bank interest income

Others

Total other income and gains

Hity s K 15 58
SNEERR B AR
U B+
IRTTH B WA
HAth

HAthl s R 1S w40 2R

* Various government grants have been received from the

local governments. There are no unfulfilled conditions or

contingencies relating to these grants.

6. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank loans
Interest on lease liabilities

Total interest expense on
financial liabilities not at
fair value through profit or loss

Less: Interest capitalised

Total
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—E-= =2
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
- 37,087
11,833 12,863
4,526 2,173
2,568 2,308
18,927 54,431
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37,708 38,419

355 386

38,063 38,805

(1,263) (4,953)

36,800 33,852




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Research and development
(“R&D") expenses
Lease payment not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
Auditors” remuneration
Employee benefit expense (including
directors” and chief executive’s
remuneration):
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Pension scheme contributions*

Total

Foreign exchange differences, net

Fair value gain on derivative instruments
— transactions not qualifying as hedges

Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Provision for impairment of inventories

Impairment/(Reversal of impairment) of
trade receivables

Bank interest income

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

*

contribution.

HEFERZE

Y ERNETYSE S-S
REYVIFEITE

ERESETE

Hi i\ & E 8

REERFREE (TR ) X

Kt AHEBRFEN
HMEMIEA

Z M &=

EERMMAY (BREESEK
REITHAEFHH)

TE#EAEMER
IR 5B (R

48 ‘s.|.

Iy

SNEZERR B ER

MTEIANANEEST
— T EERFETNRS

HEYE BB RRHE
HEEIE

FERER R

FEIR & S ARFRE,
(RiE®ER)

RITA B UA

HE—RMBATRSHE

There is no forfeited contribution for the Group to offset future
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BR¥E AT A
AEBBRRATER RO GIA) TAI&
HERF/H

2023 2022

—EZ=HF “ECCF

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ik AREFT ARET T
2,033,940 1,634,155

13,14 101,853 104,772
15(a) 3,949 4,226
16 857 703
35,808 33,856

15(c) 225 604
2,250 2,200

223,462 225,404

39,034 36,360

262,496 261,764

5,432 (37,087)

- (1,275)

2,757 11,110

14,983 29,144

20 4,568 (586)
(4,526) (2,173)

29 - (500)

* 7 5= [ 18 4 08 U (AL AR BT PR R4 8 SR AR At
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o
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFRERFITHRASHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2

FR REBELTRI S FB(RFEMD) B
383(1)(@)~ (b)~ (O ROIFEUR (AT WEE
FEHHER) RO B2WIRBNEERES
TEABHMIMT :

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022

—E== —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT AREEF T
Fees e 454 437

Other emoluments: HAE

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ REE R EYH = 3,740 3,740
Pension scheme contributions BIRE TR 72 72
Total 5t 4,266 4,249

(@ Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

@ W\IFRTEE

FRAEBUFRTEEINESE

during the year were as follows: LI

2023 2022

—gF-= —E-Z
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Mr. Lau Ying Kit eSS 130 125
Mr. Yan Jianmiao BEELE 108 104
Mr. Lo Kwong Shun Wilson EEERE 108 104
Total Hast 346 333

FALEBNBIIFATESENE
e (CEZ"&F M) o

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2022: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE'S 8. ESFKESITHAEHM@®

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and (b) HITEFR -IFPITEERERSITH

the chief executive AB
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

AR 2] BINE
g REWMHE  GEMR HHEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARBTR ARETR

2023 —E==

Executive directors WMITES

Mr. Ren Weiming* {EHEBR S A = 2,000 = 2,000
Mr. Shen Yueming T EBER ST A - 600 - 600
Mr. Zhang Hongwen RIBX Tt - 750 72 822
Ms. Shen Hong R - 390 - 390
Subtotal Mg = 3,740 72 3,812
Non-executive director JEHITES

Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert BEEREEL 108 - - 108
Subtotal INGT 108 = = 108
Total Hst 108 3,740 72 3,920
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and

the chief executive (continued)

2022

Executive directors
Mr. Ren Weiming*
Mr. Shen Yueming
Mr. Zhang Hongwen
Ms. Shen Hong

Subtotal

Non-executive director
Mr. Ngan Kam Wai Albert

Subtotal

Total

*

BT TF
HTER
R E
TREBRREE

FBEX L
mERL

It

FATES
BEBEE

It

st

Mr. Ren Weiming, who is an executive director of the

Company, also acts as the chief executive officer of the

Company.
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EEREETHRASHFM @
b BITESF -ERTEERERSITH
N=IC
Salaries,

allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

i ER BRE
BE KEYMG SHEI R HN4azE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT ARKETT ARETRT ARETRT
- 2,000 - 2,000
- 600 - 600
- 750 72 822
- 390 - 390
- 3,740 72 3,812
104 - - 104
104 - - 104
104 3,740 72 3,916
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2022: four) directors, including the chief executive, details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2022:
one) highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #rs& RS R EYH i

Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIHFR
Total 4Bt

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee fell within the following band:

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

LaEEHNES

FRN AR EEFMESSEDNS (ZF
“TF IR EF EPEERSTERA
& HErMH IR RN XX MIEE8 R 87 T
— S (CEIF ) IIFFRTEFAR
SITHABNRSHMESNFHFMFBEL
T

2023 2022
2= —Eq2-

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT AREFIT
1,656 1,575

16 15

1,672 1,590

FEERFERSTHRAENERSHMES
BUFRENEE IS A T8 E

Number of employees

EE A
2023 2022
—E=HF =2
HK$1,500,000 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00078 75 22,000,00078 7T 1 1

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the
directors and chief executive, or any of the non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration (2022: None). None of the directors
and the chief executive, or any of the non-director and non-
chief executive highest paid employees received any payment
from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2022: None).

RBE_Z_=ZF+"A=+—HL#F
B HEEERESTHRABNEMIIFE
ERIIFRSTHRAENRSHMNESRE
HEERREAHFN CETZ_F H) -
BMEEERERSTRAEBREMIFEEFRK
FRSTHABHNRSHMEEULER
W B AR (AT AR IB LADR 5| B A0 A 7 2 B 34 A
ATEBRELRBNFEDBEBME CT
“THF I\
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10.

INCOME TAX

Major components of the Group’s income tax expense for the

year are as follows:

Current — Mainland China

— Charge for the year —FAZH
— Under provision/(Overprovision) in —BAEEREBETRES
respect of prior years (EBEaEE)
Current — Hong Kong BIHR—& A
— Charge for the year —FERNZH
— Under provision in respect of —IBEFERETE

prior years
Current — Italy

BNEA— R K RE

B — = RH

— Charge for the year —FRZH
Deferred (note 18) IRIE (Ffa£18)
Total tax charge for the year FAMIEXL L HRER

(i)

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands or the
British Virgin Islands.

In accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law
which was approved and became effective on 1 January
2008, the provision for current income tax of subsidiaries
in Mainland China has been based on a statutory rate
of 25% of the assessable profits of these companies
for the year, except for Zhejiang Kingdom Linen Co.,
Ltd. (“Zhejiang Kingdom”), an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. Zhejiang Kingdom obtained the
High-new Technology Certificate for the years from 2022
to 2025 and is entitled to a tax rate of 15%.
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(ii)

2023 2022
== =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
56,243 47,485

2,657 (2,138)

= 8,861

668 459

437 1,056
(1,604) 7,297
58,401 63,020

REREHEREBEUEERR
KER AEBEBARMAEES
REBREUBEEMAFER

REEEBIN _SZNE—HF—
HEMB(PEEEMERZE) > FE
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BERNZEABNERREFE25%
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FENSHEMEE JZH15%K8

=Ko



10.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CXidik it e ES:

31 December 2023 —F_=#+_F=+—H

INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRSM @

(i) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate iy BFBNBRERNREBEENESZ2H
of 8.25% on the estimated assessable profits arising in BB ol 5T HE SR E I L8.25 %10 &
Hong Kong up to HK$2 million. Assessable profits over STIRE - BE2A BB THRERR
HK$2 million are subject to a tax rate of 16.5%. E A ER16.5%M TR /R

(iv)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Italy, the Group (ivy, BEEAFRAEER  KERBR
is subject to tax at an income tax rate of 28.82%, which 28.82%IN RBMMFTFIR » ERBIER
comprises the Italy Corporate Income Tax at 24% and the 24%MBA BN B AR BZEMMSIE R
Italy Regional Income Tax at 4.82%. 124.82% M E A BRI B AT & FTS

o

(v)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Ethiopia, the (v) MREBERERLETRANEER F&EE
Group is subject to tax at an income tax rate of 30%. The ARB0% I RBAFER- BT
Group enjoys a tax holiday of profit tax exemption of 5 EER XEEEZESEMSRER
years since 2020. HIRFEEE -

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit RARNB RHEKRED M E QB LR
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in MBI ERERNEZERERABTBEAR
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries BRI BTSN HIRIARM X - BIRBRIR
are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate Kt ENRIBASZ RN T :
is as follows:
2023 2022
—2_=fF —EC
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBF T
Profit before tax BRI Al im A 221,191 234,828
Tax at an applicable tax rate of 25% 1%25%B)E AR E T EHIRIE 55,298 58,707
Effect of different/beneficial tax rates TH/@%%?—? = (1,323) (6,683)
Under provision/(Overprovision) BEFEREEIE
in respect of prior years (EBEaRE ) 3,325 (1,679)
Income not subject to tax BEZHRAUA (1,576) (3,112)
Tax losses utilised from prior years B FEBEEHARIEEIE (946) -
Expenses not deductible for tax AEIHNIRAYRE 1,070 1,723
Tax credit arising from additional ~— FREIAREM B A B EER
deduction of R&D expenditures MEHOBRELRIRIAIR R
of subsidiaries in Mainland China (2,765) (4,408)
(Reversal)/accrual of a withholding FEINIR & & (&[] 5Hi7
tax liability 4,412) 7,454
Tax effect of deductible temporary B2 7] 415 & B! |_&L#§E7§Zﬁ
differences and tax losses HHEENRBTE
not recognised 9,730 11,018
Total tax charge for the year FAMIE LT 58,401 63,020

Kingdom Holdings Limited £ZZERERLE
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B I 55 R R M 5

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

11.

12.

DIVIDEND

Proposed final — HK9.0 cents
(2022: HK9.0 cents) per ordinary share
9.078:l1)

At the meeting of the board of directors of the Company
held on 28 March 2024, the payment of a final dividend
of HK9.0 cents per ordinary share totalling approximately
RMB51,356,000 was recommended for the year ended 31
December 2023, which is subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 616,447,000 (2022: 616,447,000) in issue during the
year, as adjusted to reflect the treasury shares held during the
year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

11.

BEARBERE-SKREER
9.0l CE"&:

12.

KR
2023 2022
2= —Eq2-
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETFIT
51,356 50,623

RIZZEZWEE=BZ+N\BE£TH4ER
DEETER L BEEEESREEE
—E=F+ZHB=+—HLEFEXH
BRESRZIERI.OBIL aENARKE
ma%omm’ﬁ SR NBIRERREEKRE
BEAG LHUER HRIEE-

RSB
B
SREABANRESAD S ERERT
BABLFRNRENERERNEETEBER
T 198616,447,00008 (- _4F :
616,447,0008%) 58 > 3 E1F H B E L b
FRFANEFRS

BRREDFTAARGESR

BE_Z_=ZER-TF-"F+°A
=+—HUEFE  AEREBREEETHE
EEEEER-



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BAFEEREZFAEARGER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT B w
(continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share SREAREERANNAESRULT :

amounts are based on:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBF T
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity REstEEREAREFH
holders of the parent used in the basic BREEERED
earnings per share calculation B ARGEERF 163,611 175,696

Number of shares

RIZEE
2023 2022
000 ‘000
T2 Th&
Shares Bz n
Weighted average number of ordinary BEstESRELRETN
shares in issue during the year used in FRAEETESER
the basic earnings per share calculation I8k 616,447 616,447

Kingdom Holdings Limited £ZZERAERAE
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B M B HwRR M T

31 December 2023

13.

pe e S=1—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022 and
at 1 January 2023:

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Depreciation provided during

the year
Transfers
Disposals
Other change
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023 net of
accumulated depreciation
At 31 December 2023:

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

e —a
TZA=+-Hk

“g-zg-A-8:

DS
RAHE

REPE

RWZE_=F—RA—-H
NERHTE
HE
FRITERRE

g
e
HitiEH
ERBE

RIBZ=F
+ZA=+—-H’
MRRHTE

RIBZ=%
+ZR=+-H8:
A
RitE
REFE
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13. % - -BERRE

—E_=H+-HA=+—H

Plant and Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
buildings Machinery equipment vehicles improvements i progress Total
BERET HE  WAER RE HEMEKE TEIR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT  ARETR ARBTz ARETR ARETR ARBTz ARET:
800,546 863,763 120,332 13,058 44,724 23,594 1,866,017
(205,386) (482,011) (72,567) (7,329) (23,326) - (790,619)
595,160 381,752 47,765 5,729 21,398 23,594 1,075,398
595,160 381,752 47,765 5,729 21,398 23594 1,075,398
1,644 21 5,374 2117 4,464 17,688 31,308
(37,688) (50,328) (7,001) (1,535) (4,701) - (101,253)
2,921 10,512 404 614 600 (15,051) -
- (7,747) (1,083) (186) - (848) (9,864)
(23,615) - - - - - (23,615)
- 2 1 - - - 3
538,422 334,212 45,460 6,739 21,761 25,383 971,977
780,988 863,869 124,806 13,838 49,789 25383 1,858,673
(242,566) (529,657) (79,346) (7,099) (28,028) - (886,696)
538,422 334,212 45,460 6,739 21,761 25,383 971,977




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. ME -BERZE®

31 December 2022 B &+ -"H=+—H
Plant and Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
buildings Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
BERIEF BE  WAZRE RE AEWEEE EEIR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFR ARETR ARETR AREFRT ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F
at 1 January 2022: +ZR=+-8k
“E-"%-F-A:
Cost & 715,915 855,238 128,499 9,719 27,603 118,920 1,855,894
Accumulated depreciation REtiE (172,350) (441,573) (66,358) 6,648) (18,190) = (705,119)
Net carrying amount RESE 543,565 413,665 62,141 3,071 9,413 118,920 1,150,775
At 1 January 2022, net of RZE-__F-—HA—H>
accumulated depreciation MREHTE 543,565 413,665 62,141 3,071 9,413 118920 1,150,775
Additions HE 4,231 1,053 4,355 3,339 1,302 35,054 49,334
Depreciation provided during ERHERRE
the year (33,036) (56,366) (8,954) (681) (5,136) = (104,173)
Transfers g 80,400 24,152 908 = 15,819 (121,279) =
Disposals HE = (752) (10,686) - = (7,014) (18,452)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-XKBAT - - - - - (2,087) (2,087)
Exchange realignment ERHE - - 1 - - = 1
At 31 December 2022 net of RIBZZE
accumulated depreciation +ZA=+-8"
NERRHTE 595,160 381,752 47,765 5,729 21,398 23,594 1,075,398
At 31 December 2022: RIBEZZE
+ZB=+-8:
Cost A 800,546 863,763 120,332 13,058 44724 23,594 1,866,017
Accumulated depreciation Rt (205,386) (482,011) (72,567) (7,329) (23,326) = (790,619)
Net carrying amount REFE 595,160 381,752 47,765 5,729 21,398 23,594 1,075,398

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB219,609,000 (2022: RMB298,487,000) were pledged to
secure bank loans granted to the Group as set out in note 25 to

the financial statements.

MU IR EE25PR 8 0 10

—=— =

—_—< ——

+ZB=+—H AEBEREFENAR
#219,609,000 T (CEZ_F . AR
298,487,00070) W% - BEKERBEETE
B EAREEERIE

LS kS

1TEHK

BYHE IR ©
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B I 55 R R M 5

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. KEYE

2023 2022

—E—= — 2=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HNREEER 4,533 5,132
Depreciation provided during the year ~— FRITERE (600) (599)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZB=+—HMREEE 3,933 4,533

The Group’s investment properties are commercial properties in
Shanghai and Jiaxing, the PRC. The directors of the Company
have determined that the investment properties consist of
one class of asset, i.e., commercial, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of the property. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2023 based on
valuations performed by Haiyan Zhonglian Asset Assessment
Limited Corporation and Jiaxing Dongxing Asset Assessment
Firm (LLP), independent professionally qualified valuers, at
RMB16,457,000. Each year, the Group's property manager and
the chief financial officer decide, after approval from the audit
committee, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s investment properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases or held by the Group for capital appreciation,
further summary details of which are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

Fair value hierarchy

The level of fair value hierarchy within which the fair value
measurements for disclosure purpose are categorised in Level
3. The valuation technique used in assessing fair value of
investment properties is discounted cash flow method, and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties are
estimated rental value, rent growth, discount rate and long term
vacancy rate.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR
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15.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASES

The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant and
buildings, motor vehicles and leasehold land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 50 years to 70 years, and no

ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land

leases. Leases of plant and buildings generally have lease terms

between 2 and 12 years, while motor vehicles generally have
lease terms of 10 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets

and the movements during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January 2022
Additions

Depreciation charge
Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2022 and 1
January 2023

Additions
Depreciation charge
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2023

Ro®-—&—A—H
ANE

EEREE

& — R AT
R0

RWZE——
+-B=+—HX&
- =_%#—HF—H

RE

EME

bE A EE
e
+=R=+—H

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's right-of-use
assets with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB25,083,000 (2022:Nil) were pledged to secure bank
loans granted to the Group as set out in note 25 to the

financial statements.

CXidik it e ES:

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

15. #HE

TEBEAEREAA

AEERZEREREF - AEREELT

WETUHESN - BRAIEH—R AR

MEzx+FERAE LI HEA5056E70

T MIBEZE T HABAENKI B

BXNEARE KEKRIEFNHIERE

NI2E12F  MAENHERBEBER10F-

—RME AEEFATEAERUIAL

EERDHEHEEEE-

(@ EHESE
AEEFAFEAEEENREESE
REBUT :

Leasehold Plant and Motor
land buildings vehicles Total
HELH BREKRIEF AE Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT

78,083 8,398 881 87,362

2,393 1,130 - 3,523

(1,979) (2,043) (204) (4,226)

(18,047) - - (18,047)
- 203 - 203

60,450 7,688 677 68,815
- 700 - 700

(1,692) (2,068) (189) (3,949)
- (188) - (188)

58,758 6,132 488 65,378

U RN F25FE N T
=+ RB=+—H ' K~EE
HEFEELH AR 25,083,00070 (ZF
T TE ®TEEREEETER
EAREBERIRITERNER
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January

New leases WEE

Accretion of interest recognised FRNEERH EIGIE
during the year

Payments R

Exchange realignment B R sR

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into: PN
Current portion TRENER
Non-current portion JERENER D

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 35 to the financial statements.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

15.

R—B—HREZE

HE w

TEBEASEBEA®

(b)

R+ZB=+—HMEEEE

HEER

FAEEAR GtAS BIRITTREM
BEET) FNRETBEREFHT -

2023 2022
—E8-= =

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREF T

8,719 9,496

700 1,130

355 386

(2,540) (2,496)

(188) 203

7,046 8,719

1,326 2,160

5,720 6,559

HEBRZIRINTRFHRERN

SE359 ER ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

15. LEASES (continued) 15.

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE

Depreciation charge of FRESENTERS
right-of-use assets

Expense relating to short-term BGHIE SRR
leases (included in administrative ~ (GF AfTEIFISY)
expenses)

Total amount recognised i8R NREEE

in profit or loss

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
30(c) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting
of two commercial properties in Shanghai and part of
the commercial property in Jiaxing under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB166,000 (2022: RMB323,000).

CXidik it e ES:

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

HE w
TEBEASEBEA®
() MRIBmPERNEESHEBERIENT :

2023 2022
—2-= S

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

355 386

3,949 4,226

225 604

4,529 5,216

@ FHEERSMHEENRGTHFREME
30(c)1K 85 o

FEBEALHBEA
AEFRBRESHELHEERAREYE
(Msx14) (BELEENHMERRAYER
EEMNITOEEYZE) - ILEBENER—
BREREZ I REESRIBAIREER
MR ERSHSEL AR AEMERN
BERNAEWA B AREE166,0007T (ZF
— 4 AR¥323,0007T) °
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B M B HwRR M T

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. *ﬂ% (&)
The Group as a lessor (continued) FEBEAERBEA @
At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments RIEZ=F+"A=+—H XxEEHR
receivable by the Group in future periods under non- BEE P IR TR ESHE IR R R
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows: HARRYRIT IR ERGEIEN T :
2023 2022
ZEI=F —E-C
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBF T
Within one year —FRN 174 174
Within second to fifth year E_EERF 449 522
Total "Bt 623 696
16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. Ht1EWEE
31 December 2023 “E=H+ZRA=+—H
Patents and Certified
licences  emission rights Total
BH KI5 a0 aa HEIAHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%F ARBFR AR%BFR

At 1 January 2023, net of N _E_=F—H—H"
accumulated amortisation PR E st 1,800 4,373 6,173
Amortisation provided during the year £ P9 5+12 4 8H (200) (657) (857)
At 31 December 2023, net of T =
accumulated amortisation +—-_B=+—8"
OB Rt 1,600 3,716 5,316
At 31 December 2023: RIEZ=F
+—A=+—8:
Cost s 2,000 10,569 12,569
Accumulated amortisation Kot (400) (6,853) (7,253)
Net carrying amount R R EE 1,600 3,716 5,316

156 2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR



16.

17.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

OTHER INTANGIBI_E ASSETS (continued)
31 December 2022

16.

HthE\ELEE w
S+ -HA=+—H

Patents and Certified
licences emission rights Total
B R FitRz 3G 1Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2022, net of RW_&E-__%—HF—H>
accumulated amortisation Bk R 5t 8 2,000 3,987 5,987
Additions NE = 889 889
Amortisation provided during the year ££ P9 5t12 # 15 (200) (503) (703)
At 31 December 2022, net of ATET T F
accumulated amortisation +—RB=+—8">
NpRREtigkE 1,800 4,373 6,173
At 31 December 2022: RIEBTTHF
+-_B=+—H":
Cost D% 2,000 10,569 12,569
Accumulated amortisation Kty (200) (6,196) (6,396)
Net carrying amount IR FEE 1,800 4,373 6,173
INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. R—RBEQATWIRE
2023
—ET=HF
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Share of net assets FTiE & EFE 25,000

157
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 17. R—FKBHZEQATNRE @

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
Registered registration
Name capital and business
sEmA,
=1 B
%78 HMED E
RMB’000
ARETT
Jiangxi Kingdom Boyang 86,300 PRC
Linen Textile Co., Ltd.
T P52 0 R AR 8 om 86,300 FE
BRAE

The Group’s shareholdings in the associate comprise equity
shares held by a subsidiary of the Company.

Jiangxi Kingdom Boyang Linen Textile Co., Ltd. is a strategic

partner of the Group principally engaged in the manufacture of
fabric products and is accounted for using the equity method.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

BEATIREFEAT

Percentage of
ownership interest
attributable
to the Group Principal activity
A EEE AL
EREED
Bt FEEXEH

28.97% Manufacture of
fabric products

28.97% AEENE®

AERRZBEADNRESERATM
BRARFANEmRD

AATERDEFMANBRARARDSEER
TERFLEEEHNEMNBBESERMN
R AR R A AR ©



17.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Jiangxi Kingdom Boyang Linen Textile
Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences in accounting policies

31 December 2023 —

17. F—ZE

and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated BRHER -

financial statements:

Current assets
Non-current assets

Net assets

The controlling shareholder’s capital
contribution to be paid-in
Total

Reconciliation to the Group's interest
in the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

Carrying amount of the investment

Revenue
Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

REEE
FRBEE

BEFE

ERRRE S
=

HEt

SARERNZBE AR EDR
BIER -

AEBBIBER LA

% B IR E = 2R

WA
£ PO
PR E RS

F_=F+-FA=1+—H

EINKE @

TRIRA LA EREMA 5B R
NENFHEERBE  EREM 5 BER
ERELABRTHASHMBERERNERES

2023
S

RMB’000
AR®TT

4,416
38,684

43,100

43,200
86,300

28.97 %
25,000
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

18. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities of the
Group during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

18.

EIEFR IR

FEBBEERBREERBERFANES)

LI

BIERBERE :

Depreciation
inexcess Loss available Fair value loss
Allowance Elimination ~ of related ~for offsetting on derivative ~ Deductible
Lease for doubtful ~ Provision for ~of unrealised ~depreciation against future ~ financial ~ donation
Liabilities Accrual debts  inventories profits allowance taxable profits instruments  expenses Total
WERL  BNEH R
% ARRE BRESR IRNAR G
HEaE RRER FEEE FREE ARG BENEE LUNGR  GEBE  BRREX a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETr ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR
At1 January 2022 (Restated) RIE-"f-F-H
(iE5) 2,374 889 226 2,099 616 3,652 16,697 319 286 27,158
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the ~ EREFASHERR/
consolidated statement of profit or (BABHEERNM)
loss during the year (note 70) WIRIEE (Hi210) (194) 17 (146) 5,852 1383 (158) (8,802) (319) (286) (2,553)
At 31 December 2022 and ‘3
1 January 2023 (Restated) +-B=+-Hk
“Z_-£-R-H
(HZ5) 2,180 1,006 80 7,951 1,999 3,49 7,895 - - 24,605
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the AT ABHHERE/
consolidated statement of profit or (BEHHARRIN)
loss during the year (note 70) WIRIEE (Hi210) (328) (1,006) 70 (1,221) 1,148 (397) (7,895) = - (9,629)
At31 December 2023 RZFZ=F+ZA=+-H 1,852 - 150 6,730 3,147 3,097 - - - 14,976
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Deferred tax liabilities:

At 1 January 2022 (Restated)

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to
the consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year
(note 10)

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 (Restated)

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to
the consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year
(note 10)

At 31 December 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

18. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

- S
(i E51)

ERBAHBRERNE/
GtABHERR) B
IRERIE (HaE10)

S
+-A=+—-Bk
S Sy S R |
(tzE751)

FREEHERRNR/

GIAGHERER W
IREIRIB (WraE10)

RZB_=%F
+-B=+—-H

18. &

BIERIARRE

EFIE @)

Withholding
tax on
undistributed Depreciation
profits of allowance
Mainland Unrealised in excess
China Right-of-use exchange of related
subsidiaries assets gain in Italy depreciation Total
REAE
MEAE BAA TERE
RO IKER REH BHAER
mEMiR EREEE ERRGH e S st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
17,522 2,374 043 31,515 52,054
418 (194) 552 3,968 4,744
17,940 2,180 1,195 35,483 56,798
(10,663) (328) 494 (736) (11,233)
7,277 1,852 1,689 34,747 45,565
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

18. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 18.
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
relates to the following:

IEFEFRIA @)

BIEEV R ETRIENBEEKRER
EREGHTBERERANEHE BIEHFE
W A AEBIEERBAGF AT

AEBR _E_=FK_FT__F+_H4
=+ —HBEERIEE T3S IEER -

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—B=HF =
+t=ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTF T
Deferred tax assets arising from: TR EEENREERIREE
— Lease liabilities —HE&aE 1,852 2,180
— Allowance for doubtful debts —RERESE 150 80
— Provision for inventories —FEEE 6,730 7,951
— Elimination of unrealised profits —IREH AR A 3,147 1,998
— Accrual —TRiRE R - 1,006
— Loss available for offsetting against — LU #5 B 2 FE SR
future taxable profit M B RS 18 = 7,895
— Depreciation in excess of related —ITEBHARMITERRE
depreciation allowance MR8 3,097 3,494
14,976 24,605
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

18. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:

— Withholding tax on undistributed —FRE KRBT & A B R
profits of Mainland China oo BFEINR
subsidiaries

— Right-of-use assets —EREEE

— Depreciation allowance in excess of
related depreciation &8
— Unrealised exchange gain in Italy

Deferred tax, net IR IEFR TS 58

Reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position:

— Deferred tax assets —RIERIBE &=
— Deferred tax liabilities —RERIBEE

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of Nil
(2022: RMB31,580,000) that will expire in five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
been recognised in respect of these losses as it is considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
above items can be utilised.

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB18,944,000 (2022: RMB10,351,000) that will expire
in five years for offsetting against future taxable profits and
has tax losses arising in Ethiopia of RMB15,377,000 (2022:
RMB18,513,000) and in Hong Kong of RMB11,035,000 (2022:
RMB6,328,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these losses as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above items
can be utilised.

—TERREBHARTE

—BEANKRERERFD

REHMFBRRRAR R

B HMTFFRRMEE
31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H
IEIEFR IH ()

31 December 31 December

TR BEEENEEREER:

2023 2022
TEBT=H B
+—-B=+—H +—-_B=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
(7,277) (17,940)
(1,852) (2,180)
(34,747) (35,483)
(1,689) (1,195)
(45,565) (56,798)
(30,589) (32,193)
3,303 8,473
(33,892) (40,666)

REBPFEAEEENRBEEAS (T
T4 ARMK31,580,0007T) » R E
AR DR R R BRI i F] c ERMEZE
BEIEERRIERIEEE  JTHRHRAR
AIAEFE R BB LA I8 B IR B FEER AR &
Fo

NREBRTEAAEEENREEES A
118,944,000 (2% | AR
10,351,0007T * #8 7° L EE A EHB LU 85 R 2R
FERREF RIRERLETEREBNRIE
BiEAARME15,377,00070 (-
AE118,513,0007T) &z AR #11,035,0007T

=T F: A\R¥6,328,0007T) » Bl
REAF IR EE B A BB R KRERR
wA) o M L 2 E IR R ERIEE E
TSR R AR NEEREA LB B I
THRIFERIR AT o
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

18.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has deductible temporary differences arising in
Mainland China of RMB31,833,000 (2022: RMB28,348,000).
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these deductible temporary differences as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
above items can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
The applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group. A 10%
withholding tax is also levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Italy and Ethiopia.

As at 31 December 2023, other than the amount recognised
in the consolidated financial statements, deferred tax has not
been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland China, Italy
and Ethiopia. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such unremitted earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China and Italy for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognised totalled approximately RMB588,123,000
at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB500,623,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

18.

IEFEFRIA @)

2 £ B 5 A B A B 7 AR Y AT A0 R B M
A NE131,833,0007c (CE - " A
FE#£28,348,0007T) ° WL ZE I 0RE
REMEZZRRRIRIEMIBE E > YR ER
ARNIFEC B L IE B IKEAERR
EA

AN B B Hh E 1 A B A BE IR P9 A AL Y BT B
NBEEENE—EBE—HEELENEF
FrE kMR BBMTBINR AEBBERAD
REA5%510% ° £ 2 AK RIZERLLE
I ERERERIEREESIKD
B BTN BRI 0%BIFEIOFR ©

RIBE_=F£+_A=+—0 %&HH
R AEDNSEEIN REBMITERHE
FERBEARE S BAF MR EMH LT AL
B /88 /A ] 7B 485 40 FB 0 70 A oK BE HH 22 | P FE
BN ERIEIERIE - ERB A %E
MEBARRAEREERNATEDRKEZSE
KELBF R_EBE_=F+"A=+—
B - BB e oA R R B AH B B A B AR
EEEMIERILERELRBEEENY
BFMEEREREE S HAA AR 588,123,000
T (CEZ—F : ARK500,623,0007T) °

AABAERFIKRE L ENHPIER
MBFER -



19.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

INVENTORIES

Raw materials FEEL
Work in progress FHm
Finished goods Sl o
Total “ast

As at 31 December 2023, inventories with a carrying amount
of RMB40,000,000 (2022: RMB40,000,000) were pledged to
secure loans granted to the Group as set out in note 25 to the
financial statements.

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

19. &

31 December 31 December
2023 2022

—EZ= =S
+—-_HB=+—H +—-_B=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT AREF T
691,039 333,258
121,635 66,869
206,871 285,053
1,019,545 685,180

M FHRRMA25F > R T - =
F+_HB=+—H RESTEAAR
#40,000,0007c (ZE - _F : AR
40,000,0007T) WEEETEH  (EARE
EERERBER-

Kingdom Holdings Limited £ZZERAERAE

165



166

20. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables FEUNE 5 8RR
Notes receivable ENERE
Impairment BE

Net carrying amount IREFEE

Customers are normally granted credit terms ranging from
30 days to 150 days depending on the creditworthiness of
the individual customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

The Group’s notes receivable all aged within six months and
were neither past due nor impaired. The expected credit losses
for notes receivable are assessed to be minimal.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 1T month — @B LA
1 to 2 months —ZEmEH
2 to 3 months ME=@EA

BiE=1Ea

Over 3 months

Total 4Bt

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

20. FEUWLE BRI BURE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
TEBT=H B

+-—HB=+—H +—BA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREF T

373,476 273,073

189,671 153,520

4,791) (326)

558,356 426,267

BRE—RERTEEHIOREIS0KR  H{TF
EREEFNEEME AEBNRFER
MG RKEINEWHRIE TRBEERE
WU EERBAERBE SREES
EHRER Rm ERAS A5 o FE N B S AR R A 5t
=

FEENBREEREHOSNERR I
BEBRTERE BURRENRRAEES
BT EA T EM-

RREAR > FEENERIKRE 7 RRIZE
RHMEWHRBREHENRE DO T :

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

2= —Eq2-
+—-B=+—H +—-—B=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T
217,334 148,389
91,535 49,438
49,666 37,250
10,150 37,670
368,685 272,747




20.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year REF]
Impairment losses, net (note 7)
Amount written off as uncollectible

At end of year RER

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written
off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEX

Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEmeE ARETD
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHREERR ARETD)
As at 31 December 2022

Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX

Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BrEESE ARETT)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHEEHRE ARETD

RER R (az7)
R A2 S BT U (O] 9 S 58

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

0. BEWEZIRFEREKERE @

FEWE ZRUBEBEREEESNT !

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
—E-= -
+=—B=+—H +=ZB=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T

326 912
4,568 (586)
(103) -
4,791 326

RERSARORARBERETRED
i U ETE W E 5 RMHRIE SRR
BEXDERAMEEREUSERINS
BERDEETHAEMARNBHEE -
Zet BRI RMELR EREERR
BREBAISHNARBESE  ERIFMG
RARREEFERANSIERPIFEER
—RM = HEWE SRR EaIHEE—F
A7 LUES  EARRIT IIERIR

TREAEEREHRIAAAEREKE
ZERMER RN THER

WZE-=%+-"HB=+—H

Past due
B

Less than 1to3 Over
1 month months 3 months Total
—@RMA —ZE=ER BB=EA Mzt
0.95% 3.13% 43.92% 1.28%
2,636 1,543 10,763 373,476
15 49 4,727 4,791

R_E-__F+-B=+—H

Past due
HiHA

Less than 1t03 Over
1 month months 3 months Totgl
—@ALUA —ZE=@EF BBE=E3 Kzt
0.22% 1.91% 15.91% 0.12%
7,829 2,385 1,659 273,073
17 45 264 326
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

20.

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes receivable that are not derecognised in their
entirety

As at 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain notes
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed
Notes”) with a carrying amount of RMB33,183,000 (2022:
RMB59,843,000) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle
the trade payables due to such suppliers (the “Endorsement”).
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include
default risks relating to these Endorsed Notes, and accordingly,
it continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the
Endorsed Notes and the associated trade payables settled.
Subsequent to the endorsement, the Group does not retain
any rights on the use of the Endorsed Notes, including sale,
transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Notes to any other third
parties. The aggregate carrying amount of the trade payables
settled by the Endorsed Notes to which the suppliers have
recourse was RMB33,183,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB59,843,000).

Notes receivable that are derecognised in their entirety
As at 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain notes
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Derecognised
Notes”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade
payables due to such suppliers with a carrying amount in
aggregate of RMB21,479,000 (2022: RMB34,897,000). The
Derecognised Notes had a maturity of one to six months at
the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law
of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the
Derecognised Notes have a right of recourse against the Group
if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the
Derecognised Notes. Accordingly, it has derecognised the
full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Notes and the
associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised
Notes and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Notes is equal to their carrying amounts. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of the
Group's Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Notes are
not significant.
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20.

FEY B 5 BR A B FENE 1 @)
iR EAR ISR BN E

RIE_=F+_"_FA=+—H &~EEMH
HETHERSZE THTRAMNETER
HEWERE (REERE) ' RESEA
AR®33,183,000c (ZE-_"F : AR
#59,843,0007T) » U BN ZEHER
HENEZRR (TEE) - ARTDESER
A ARERBNFRBEARRKEER GF
ERHZEREETEMNENRRE  BARE
FEERIACEEEBRRIEEAEEEE
NEZRANEBEEDSIE - NEEE
AEBTEFRETAEEKLEEREN
A aiEREAEME = HE  HE
HEMKEEEE UMHERERBERE
MRS EZREENENTEZRERN S
T E+ZB=+—HWEREEESA
133,183,000 (ZE2E-—F : AR
59,843,0007T) °

2RI EINE S
RN_E_=F+_"_A=+—H &~&E£EMH
HETHERSEE THRENIRITEM
BIFEWR s (TR IEFEEREENE)) » BRE4BEE S
AE#21,479,000c (ZEZ_F | AR
34,897,00070) > U BENZEHERN
FENEZIRM R IEMAZHEHFEER
Est—Z/NMEB AEIHE - RIE P EZE R L
BRIFTEREENFTBEABENRPRMNIEIT
BARBAERRHER (FEZH) oK
NEEERA AEBCEHBRBBK LR
REIE BB A B IS K B, o R > AN
EEARIEEIRIEEIRZ R REREENE
SR ENEESE AERFES A
BRIFERERRELZERIETEIEREN
FMBRRERENRSBEIRMESENE
FERE SR ANBEFRA AEEFE
ZHRIEBIEZENAAEELAE LR



20.

21.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued) 20.

Notes receivable that are derecognised in their entirety
(continued)

The Group has not recognised any gain or loss on the date
of transfer of the Derecognised Notes in 2023 (2022: Nil).
No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively. The
Endorsement has been made evenly throughout the year.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21.
RECEIVABLES

Value added tax recoverable EIEIR= R
Prepayments FATR

Deposits and other receivables HE R HEMEWEIE
Total “ast

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing
and repayable on demand.

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

The carrying amount of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximates to their fair value due to their short-
term maturity.

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

FEU & 5 BR A B FENE 1 @)
PERIEEINERERE @

KRB AEE R B LR
D ORISR NESEA B
& m) o AE B MmN R R
2 R 19 3 AR B BTN ER
Tt o

FAGR - R RE MW TRIE

31 December 31 December
2023 2022

—E-= —_EF
+-—B=+—H +=ZHB=+—~H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETIT
23,116 17,272
45,734 66,128
21,209 12,825
90,059 96,225

EHERRAEIER At B R AR ERE

A EMEHRIS R E E AAT HR N IR
RN RIBER RIS =
ER_EZ_F+_A=+—HTMEE
BEEMTEM

R EHREIE RN R R HME
WRIERRETREAE AR EBEREE-
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

DEPOSITS

Cash and bank balances

Less: Pledged deposits for letters of credit
Cash and cash equivalents

Denominated in RMB
Denominated in HK$
Denominated in EUR
Denominated in US$
Denominated in other currencies

Cash and bank balances

RE RIRTTHEER

. BRLE AR R RIER
RERREEFED
NAR¥ESHE

M&TstHE

M ErTEtE

HETTstHE
NEMEEEEHE

RE RIRTTHEER

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,

however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.
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31 December

22. RERFREZFEYMURBIBRER

31 December

2023 2022
—F—= -
+tZA=+—HB +ZA=t+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
521,256 529,369
521,256 529,369
(66,444) (61,900)
454,812 467,469
156,188 161,331
1,589 2,412
29,961 5,670
315,363 358,074
18,155 1,882
521,256 529,369

ARBAERZBRAEMER - 2AM > 1R
BB AR (MEE EIRIRA)) K (FEEE~ B
ERNEEERE) t~EREEZBER
RETIINEXZBNRTREARBRIRSE

fth 9 o

RITERRRESARTERANRFEZ
ARG R - RITEFREACRIFERF
W AREENELBEERIFZIRTT



23.

24.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and notes payables as at 31
December 2023, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 1 month —EB LA
1 month to 3 months —ZE={EA8
Over 3 months w8iE =1 A
Total 4Bt

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing
with credit terms of 90 days. The carrying amount of trade
and notes payables at the end of each reporting period
approximates to their fair value due to their short-term maturity.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Contract liabilities (i) =X =L E=(0)]
Payroll payables ENE T
Accruals TEiIEE A
Other payables HAthFE T RIE
Total #Et

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

23. EHEZRAKLEMNEE
A CE T =F+ " RA=+—H BEEH
DENENEZ IR NEN ERRE D

T

31 December 31 December
2023 2022

—E=F =2
+-—B=+—H +-—HA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T
149,146 65,609
403,504 252,383
35,001 49,104
587,651 367,096

EHE A BRI R R FEHA0
HeMEREHFR > AN TE hE
NEZERARENRENRESREEA
REERE-

24. HthfEARIAKRTRIRE R

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E= —E-—
+=A=+—H +—-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARET T
51,662 49,377
29,963 28,747
9,806 8,049
91,588 141,921
183,019 228,094
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

(i) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Short-term advances WEUE 5 BIFG BF#0
received from customers
Sale of goods EmiHE

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver products. The increase in contract liabilities in
2023 and 2022 was mainly due to the increase in short-
term advances received from customers in relation to the
sales of products at the end of the years.

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-
bearing. The carrying amount of other payables
and accruals at the end of each reporting period
approximates to their fair value due to their short-term
maturity.

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FF iR

24, HttEARRIERTRIRER @

iy &

VEENFREAT

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
—EZ=F “EBICF S-S
+ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H —B—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREF T
51,662 49,377 16,955

EHBEEEARE R UWE B
DHIRR N B _=FR_T__
FHNEHNEBERENMIBEEHRER
WEHHEERHEERNEHEER
BERIEN0 o

LRSS ERR RN - RER
SR AR R s EH A
MRERFARERANRASERAH

NABEES-



25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Current

Secured bank loans

Unsecured bank loans

Other loans - unsecured

Lease liabilities (note 15)
Subtotal - current
Non-current

Secured bank loan
Other loans - unsecured
Lease liabilities (note 15)
Subtotal - non-current

Total

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

ENH
BEMBITER
EEMBITER
A &R - B

AE&E Wz5)
I\t -1
JEESR

REMRITER

BE&R #215)
NGt =SB0

A=
a5t

25.

31 December 2023

31 December 2023

st B ER1

ZEZ=%+ZB=1-H

Effective
interest rate

(%) Maturity RMB'000
BRA=

(%) 5l ARETR

3.10-6.10 2024 339,817

1.80-5.00 2024 442,663

491 2024 50,000

4.20 2024 1,326

833,806

435 2026 30,000

4.20 2025-2031 5,720

35,720

869,526

TREMBEES

31 December 2022

e —H=—+—H

2T TE+CR=1+-H

Effective
interest rate

(%) Maturity RMB'000
BIEH =

(%) k] AERETT

3.70-5.00 2023 408,000

2.00-5.00 2023 280,233

3.65 2023 5,951

441 2023 2,160

696,344

491 2024 50,000

441 2024-2031 6,559

56,559

752,903
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B I 55 R R M 5

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Analysed into: PAR) v I
Bank loans repayable: FEEERITEN :
Within one year —FR
In the third to fifth years, inclusive B=EFHE
(BIEEEME)
Subtotal Vgt
Other borrowings repayable: REEREMES :
Within one year —FR
In the second year B
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEZEFERF
(BEEEME)
Over five years HEME
Subtotal /st
Total e

Note:

As at 31 December 2023, the current interest-bearing bank borrowings
with a carrying amount of RMB339,817,000 (2022: RMB408,000,000)
were secured by certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and inventories with carrying amounts of RMB219,609,000
(2022: RMB298,487,000), RMB9,991,000 (2022: Nil) and
RMB40,000,000 (2022: RMB40,000,000), respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the non-current interest-bearing bank
borrowings with a carrying amount of RMB30,000,000 (2022: Nil)
were secured by certain right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of
RMB15,092,000 (2022: Nil).
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stRRITREMETG @

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
== =
+-—B=+—H +—HA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
782,480 688,233
30,000 =
812,480 688,233
51,326 8,111
713 51,251
2,145 2,308
2,862 3,000
57,046 64,670
869,526 752,903
izt -
RZE_=F+"_B=+—B RE$%EA

ANE#339,817,000c (ZEZZF : ARK
408,000,0007T) WENEAET ERITEEMURA S
DRI A ARKE219,609,0007T (CB-—F 1 A
K 1%298,487,0007T) ~ AK19,991,0007t (=&
— &) R ARK40,000,00070 (CE - " F:
AR %40,000,00070) WE T BB REE
FRAREERGEEFIRIR

RIEZ=F+ZHA=1+—H KASEAARE
#30,000,0007C (Z B = 4 : &) NIEENHAET B
fETﬂﬁ”)‘MEEE%%’EﬁAEWB 092,0007T (=
TTFE @\ NETHERAREEEERF



25.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the current interest-bearing bank borrowings
with a carrying amount of RMB11,495,000 (2022: Nil) were
guaranteed by the directors of the Company.

The carrying amount of the current interest-bearing bank and other
loans of the Group approximates to their fair value due to their short-

term maturity.

The fair values of the non-current interest-bearing bank and other loans
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit

risk and remaining maturities.

The Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and
other loans as at 31 December 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.
Management has assessed that the carrying amount of the non-current
interest-bearing bank and other loans of the Group approximates to
their fair values because the fixed interest rate is close to the currently

available rate.

25.

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

stRRITREMETG @

AT =HE+ B+ —H RESEAAR
#11,495,0007C (CZE - ) BIEEAE S48
FTEERRARESER

I AE RN R > B A = M BN HR 5T B IR 1T R HoAth
EMHRESHEEARBERS

JEENHAST RIRTT R EMERN QA A BERER
REBRLUFR EERBRRFIGFFRANTARN
ROANRFRBARKBES REAE

R TEC=F+"RA=+—H AEEXSH
BHRTREMERNFEARERTESLA
EXR-HERENT G AEEBIFRNAA BIR
ThEMEFNREASHEEHAABERES R
H 7 E R REARITH=R -
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. Rg#As
Authorised: ERE
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
“E”=f+ZHA=+—-H TEIZE+ZRA=+-H
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
nEE! &8 et & E &8
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  &[Z0.01B T E &K 3,000,000,000 30,000  3,000,000,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
ZEI=f+ZA=1+-H “2-"#+°RA=1+-H
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
RiAEE &% RingE En ]
HK$000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000
TéEx  ARETRT TEr  ARETR
equivalent equivalent
S ]
At the beginning and the end REDRER
of the year 629,678,000 6,297 6,329 629,678,000 6,297 6,329
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CXidik it e ES:

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

27. TREASURY SHARES 27. EERIG

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

ZEZ=F+ZB=1+-H “ZCTE+CR=1-H
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
RIPHE ] BOEE] 8

HK$'000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000
TER ARBTT TAT AEETT
equivalent equivalent
% S
At the beginning and end of the year ~ PREARER 13,230,750 13,305 13,230,750 14,632 13,305

On 26 August 2016, the Company adopted a share award
plan (the “Share Award Plan”), which is now subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) after the amendments of the Listing Rules with
effect from 1 January 2023. The board of directors may, at their
discretion, grant shares of the Company to eligible participants.
The Company has appointed a trustee for administration of the
Share Award Plan (the “Trustee”). The principal activity of the
Trustee is administrating and holding the Company’s shares
for the Share Award Plan for the benefit of the Company’s
award holders. The Company’s shares will be purchased by
the Trustee in the market with cash paid by the Company and
held in the trust for relevant award holders until such shares are
vested in accordance with the provisions of the Share Award
Plan. Upon vesting, the Trustee shall either transfer the vested
awarded shares at no cost to such award holders or sell the
vested awarded shares at the then prevailing market price by
way of market order and remit the net proceeds to the award
holders in accordance with the direction given by such award
holders. In January, April and September 2017, the Trustee
purchased in aggregate 19,400,000 shares of the Company
at a total consideration of approximately RMB19,508,000
and on 25 May 2018, 19,370,000 shares were granted to
eligible persons under the Share Award Plan, of which a
total of 1,010,000 awarded shares were vested in 2019 and
5,159,250 awarded shares were vested in 2020 and transferred
to award holders. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
no share award was granted under the Share Award Plan.
As of 31 December 2023, all of the remaining 13,230,750
shares held by the Trustee had not been granted to any eligible
persons under the Share Award Plan.

NZB—RENAZ+H > ARG
—IER MRN8 (MRS EEEETE)) - 1R
—EC =B —HEEMZEEBHER
SFERABZS EHHRA (T EHRE)
2% ZetBRT EmRANE+EE
BXFRE - EETZTINERNEGEKRSHA
ABRHAAB KRG - A RBEZEZTA
(TZsEAL) EERMDERTEl - TTAW
FEEFARQBDEBIFE ANTIRR
RDREEEERIFTAEARBRMD oK
NENRMDEAHZEARMHE LEREAR
B IMIREBALUET S X AHERALE
BIFEAMFE BEEERRMDEBEHKRG
REAEBCXFURTBAILE -RNEBE
SHEANBRBZERBERE AMEHMNIE
T RERBNRBRDEEEHETZSE
REFE A AR TS L RERIRTHS
BREYHECHEBNWRERG LEREHNIE
FHENTHEBFEEA-R_Z—tF—
B-WARNAA  ZEEALBREBHNARE
19,508,0007c 8 A &2 B & $£19,400,000
M RN_2—NEHEB_+HH"
19,370,000H;HyﬁaEE%%%%HQ%&&%E%§+§UE§
BEMRAL EFE$1,010,0008%4

Fﬁ?]ﬁyfﬂﬁ\_ — NEF B K5,159,250/&1
BRMON__E_SEEBUEETRERS
BABE_ZE_=F+"A=+—H1t
FE> BEREROZEEEHT AR
HRB-BHE_E_=F+"_A=+—8"
SEEARFEMNRTARR 13,230,750 %1%
HARTROEERSAESE T Z2EAEER
A*Eo
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

28.

RESERVES

The changes in the reserves of the Group during the year have
been disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the Group.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
shareholders’ total capital contributions to Hong Kong
Kingdom over the nominal value of the shares issued
by the Company in exchange therefor as at the date of
a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) of the Group to
rationalise the group structure in preparation for the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange and the difference
between the aggregate of the then net assets of the subsidiary
acquired and the consideration paid by the Group for the
business combination under common control. Details of the
Reorganisation are set out in the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 November 2006.

PRC statutory reserve

General reserve fund

The subsidiaries in Mainland China are required to transfer at
least 10% of their profit after taxation, as determined under the
PRC accounting regulations, to the general reserve fund until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of their respective registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the
distribution of dividends to shareholders.

The general reserve fund can be used to make good losses
and convert into share capital by the issue of new shares to
shareholders in proportion to their existing equity holdings.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of overseas subsidiaries.

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the funds in the share
premium account are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.
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f#
ERAEBEEESBHERAEEA GRS
BB RARE -

RG]
BHEEIEASHEA AT RGN £
o AEEETEMA(TE4H) UEHERLR
BEH BASENRELERBEAR
B] 73 MM B TR 0 EE B Z RB K PR
BB AR BREEFERBEAERT
HEAZEG P EFSHA M ABNELE-
BEHFBHNRAABHBAZZTERE
+—B=1+HNERERR-

PEEE S

—REEEES

R ARERNM B A B BiREEERPEE 5T
HEETENRREENRD10%E— Rk
B BEEHEBEHEINESEZMES
BI50%7% Lk o 3R B LB BN D IRIR BT R
RAIETT o

—RERE TR BIFAEREERUIZRRR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —FE_=#+_F=+—H
DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 29. HE—RKBAE
2023 2022
—E—= — 2=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBF T
Net assets disposed of: HERNFEE !
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEY 8,100 =
Pledged deposits [=Eiigtike 35,000 =
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 18,047
Property, plant and equipment NN E - 2,087
Accruals and other payables TEIR & A R HL e (IR - (274)
Subtotal INET 43,100 19,860
Less: Fair value of remaining shareholding & @ && T BN A REE 25,000 —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWNBABNFm - 500
Total consideration BB 18,100 20,360
Satisfied by: AR
Cash " 18,100 20,360
An analysis of the net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash HE—XWNBABNRERIREEFEBY O
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as £) ORAFESITAT
follows:
2023 2022
== S-S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBT T
Cash consideration received BWIRERE = 20,360
Cash and bank balances disposed of HERIRE RIRTTHEER 8,100 —
Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash HE—ZFMBATNRESK
equivalents in respect of the disposal REFEY RL) /RA
of a subsidiary RE (8,100) 20,360
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30.

CASH FLOWS

(@ Major non-cash transactions @)
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB700,000
(2022: RMB1,130,000) and RMB700,000 (2022:
RMB1,130,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for plant and buildings.

SHREERERNE

FTEERERS

EN ANEBERBERIEFHER
HNERAREERTAEaBGIERS
REDHAAR®700,0007T (ZF
— & AR¥1,130,00070) R AR
#700,00070 (ZBZ 2% AR

1,130,0007T) ©
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) MEIFESELEZEEED
activities
2023 =
Bank and Lease
other loans liabilities
RITREMERR HeEasE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TFT AR¥F T
At 31 December 2022 RIEZZF+ZB=+—H 744,184 8,719
Changes from financing cash flows BRE IR S 2 EE) 118,296 (2,540)
New leases wiEE = 700
Interest expenses MEMX - 355
Exchange realignment PE oA EE - (188)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=9+"B=+—H 862,480 7,046
2022 BT T4
Bank and Lease
other loans liabilities
RITREMER HEaE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARETF T
At 31 December 2021 N ZE—F+"H=+—H 876,299 9,496
Changes from financing cash flows RIEIREREZ E5) (132,115) (2,496)
New leases e = 1,130
Interest expenses FERX - 386
Exchange realignment BB R R - 203
At 31 December 2022 RIE2ZZHF+ZHA=+—H 744,184 8,719
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
Within investing activities
Within financing activities

31. COMMITMENTS

GESIEE LN
BREREMN
RELE M

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of

the reporting period:

Contracted for property, plant and
equipment

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

30. SHEERERME @

(0 HMEEREFMHUWME
SAARSREROAERS R

BUE
2023 2022
—EBETHF —ETTTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFT
225 604
- 2,393
2,540 2,496
2,765 5,493

31. KB

PSR AEBBEARFENT

31 December 31 December

TADE BB RREEETA

2023 2022
—EI=HF -
+tZA=+—HB +ZA=t—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTF T

24,422 208,855
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with companies controlled by one of
the Company’s directors

(@

0]

(ii)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group leased offices and manufacturing facilities
located in Mainland China from Zhejiang Kingdom
Creative Co., Ltd. (“Kingdom Creative”) and
incurred operating lease charges of RMB476,000
(2022: RMB476,000). Mr. Ren Weiming
has a controlling equity interest in Kingdom
Creative. Rental and other terms for these lease
arrangements were negotiated between the parties
on an arm’s length basis with reference to the then
prevailing market rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group purchased electricity from Zhejiang Yuyuan
Solar Co., Ltd. with an amount of RMB2,208,000
(2022: RMB2,619,000). Mr. Ren Weiming has a
controlling equity interest in this company. The
price of electricity was made with a discount rate
of approximately 3.5% to the market prices.

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group purchased chemicals, additives
and tools from Zhejiang Jinxiu Jiangnan Silk
Co., Ltd. with an amount of RMB2,060,000
(2022: RMB2,284,000). Mr. Ren Weiming has a
controlling equity interest in this company. The
purchase of raw materials was made according
to published prices and conditions offered by the
supplier to its major customers.
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32.

HERRS
BHRAAR-LEFEHFHNAR
EITHRZ

(@

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

RBEE_ZE_=ZF+"E8
=t+—HIEEE  AXEEBT
TeERIERNMBREAR (&
Zalx)) BREZEMN AR
AENBAERMERE FI
EXNKESNEERAARK
476,000 (ZE2-"F ! AE
#%476,0007T) o E#HRRLEHE
ESEENERER ZF
HEZE s R EHMERRTD
HEHFL2EZERMELFH
|%Cﬂo

RBEE_ZT_=£+_AH4
=t+—HILEFEE AEBMUA
E 12,208,000 (CE - "4
AR ¥2,619,0007T) AHIE
BEARBRATEE o (E4EE
HEEBZNBINIERRES
EERMEITEN3.5%°

RBEE_ZE_=ZF£+_A8
=t+—HIEEE AEBBEN
ISR IR AR R B IR
FEA AR¥2,060,0007T (=
T4 AR#52,284,0007T)
HIEBE RNME R TR
HEBBSCE A A B B RR
o B EHREE T R AL e
MEFEFFRENEAME
MR AEHEE o



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@

(b)

Transactions with companies controlled by one of

the Company’s directors (continued)

(iv)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group leased cars from Interconnect Financial
Leasing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., and incurred lease
charges of RMB265,000(2022: RMB319,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group leased an office to Interconnect Financial
Leasing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and generated lease
income of RMB171,000. Mr. Ren Weiming has a
controlling equity interest in Interconnect Financial
Leasing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.s parent company,
Kingdom Creative. Rental and other terms for these
lease arrangements were negotiated between the
parties on an arm’s length basis with reference to
the then prevailing market rates.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

CXidik it e ES:

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

32. FAERFXZ @
(@ HEAKXAFT—REFEHNAE
EITHRS @
vy REE_ZE_=Z€+_A8
—t+—HIEEE - AEBBE
EREMEE (B BRAF
HESRE EEHEERAR
#265,00070 (ZE__4F : A
E#319,00070) cREBE_ZE
T CE+-R=+—HLE
B AEEREEMRERSE (&
) BARABHARAE E
FHERAARE171,0007T ©
EHPBECE R EEMNERE
(E8) AR AENZ AT
EAENERER ZEEE
ZH S R EMERTEE
F2EERMEBERTHE-

(b) FEETFEZEBRASHMHEE

2023 2022

- —B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETT
Short term employee benefits AR EEA 5,396 5,315
Post-employment benefits BRI R E A 90 89

Total compensation paid to ENEZEEEASHMHERLE

key management personnel 5,486 5,404

Further details of directors’” and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)(ii)
and (a)(iii) above are also disclosed as connected
transactions in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

EEhRSTHAEMENE-—TFEH
PR ER R MIEES

M EE SR (a) (i) Kz () (i) TR Ko BY BRI 75 32
SITRE LB RABI4ATWEDRER
2o
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. RERSENETHMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEHR KB M TEANKRE S
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: me
2023 =F==
Financial assets TRMEE

Financial assets

at fair value Financial
through other assets
comprehensive at amortised
income cost Total
BAREE
STAHMEHE REHM A
Yz Y AR A9
THMEE TREE Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AT ARET
Trade receivables FEIE 5 R - 368,685 368,685
Notes receivable W ERE 189,671 = 189,671
Financial assets included in deposits &t A< K H A AEUERIERY
and other receivables TRIEE - 21,209 21,209
Pledged deposits BIREER = 66,444 66,444
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY = 454,812 454,812
Other non-current assets HitJEmen s E = 11,800 11,800
Total Wt 189,671 922,950 1,112,621
Financial liabilities ERAE
Financial
liabilities
at amortised
cost Total
REHM A
Bl BR A9
ERHAME Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREF
Interest-bearing bank and stEBITREMES
other borrowings 869,526 869,526
Financial liabilities included in SFAEMENRIBRBIRER
other payables and accruals At = 98,416 98,416
Dividends payable AR R 476 476
Trade and notes payables P B R RAR A RE 587,651 587,651
Total #ast 1,556,069 1,556,069
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33.

(continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(continued)
2022

Financial assets

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

BENSENEMTIAE®

REBEEER ZENESH T ENKRE 48
mr @

- fF
TREE

Financial assets

at fair value Financial
through other assets
comprehensive at amortised
income cost Total
BANEE
STAEMEE bog: SN
Wz By LSS
TREE TREE K5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREF T
Trade receivables FEWE FBRTR = 272,747 272,747
Notes receivable P15 153,520 = 153,520
Financial assets included in deposits 5t A$f & R E A REUGRIERN
and other receivables ERMEE - 12,825 12,825
Pledged deposits ERIRER - 61,900 61,900
Cash and cash equivalents RENREEEY = 467,469 467,469
Total “as 153,520 814,941 968,461
Financial liabilities EHEaE
Financial
liabilities
at amortised
cost Total
FIBR Y
TREE #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREF T
Interest-bearing bank and sHERITRAMEE
other borrowings 752,903 752,903
Financial liabilities included in SEAEMENRIER
other payables and accruals FEiREANEMEE 149,970 149,970
Dividends payable BARE 307 307
Trade and notes payables AN ZE S NS 367,096 367,096
Total HEEt 1,270,276 1,270,276
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31 December 2023 —ZE_=#F+_"F=+—H

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

EFMIANAABERAABES
ER
FEESHTANEESBERAREE B
RESHEEARBESBASER O

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: T
Carrying amounts Fair values
REEE [REE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—g°= “B__fF  TBIEE _ET__fF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREBTT ARBTR AREBETR
Financial assets ERMEE
Debt instruments at fair value through BAnBESAHMER
other comprehensive income WM EH TR 189,671 153,520 189,671 153,520

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged deposits,
current interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade and
notes payables, dividends payable, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments. The fair values of the non-current interest-bearing
bank and other loans have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities which is approximate to their carrying amounts.
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other loans as at
31 December 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.
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34.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the chief
financial officer and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year
for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The fair values have been assessed to be
approximate to their carrying amounts.

34.
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34. TMIANAARBERAREBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BRI @
Fair value hierarchy RABESFTREE
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRETAERSHMIANANEESR
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: LIRIRIE :
Assets measured at fair value: RASEENAENEE :

Fair value measurement using
RAUTHBETNAAGBEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

31 December markets inputs inputs
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ZEI-F REETE EATRE ERATUER
+—A HRE BAE BAE
E—E = E_E B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETH
Notes receivable MR 189,671 = 189,671 =

Fair value measurement using
RANTREETHNARBEHE
Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

31 December markets inputs inputs
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ERCICHE IR BAHR EAFIEHER
+—-A H#RE BAE BAE
=+—H F—E £TE B=E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTE ARMTR ARKBFT ARMTR

Notes receivable R ER 153,520 = 153,520 =
During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no RBE_E_=F+_B=+—HLHE
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, B AaBEfEEE—RBARE_EZH
and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value BMEER THEAFS=EyEF = BB
measurements (2022: Nil). CEIZF @)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank and other loans,
trade and notes payables, dividends payable and other
payables. The main purpose of interest-bearing bank and
other loans is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
trade and notes payables and other payables are arisen from
operations. The Group has various financial assets such as
trade and notes receivables, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents
that arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including
principally forward currency contracts. The purpose is to
manage the currency risks arising from the Group'’s operations
and its sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks which are summarised below. The Group’s
accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in note
2.4 to the financial statements.

35.
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group has foreign
currency sales and purchases and certain trade receivables,
payables and bank balances that are denominated in USS$,
EUR and HK$, which are currencies other than the functional
currencies of the Group's subsidiaries, and expose the Group to
foreign currency risk.

It is the Group’s policy to ensure that the net exposure is kept
to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at
a fixed rate where necessary to address short term imbalances.
Management will continue to monitor foreign exchange
exposure and will continue to consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure by using financial instruments such
as foreign currency forward contracts.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the US$, EUR and HK$ exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before
tax (due to changes in the translated value of monetary assets
and liabilities including foreign currency derivatives).

Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZZT=F
+ZA=+—HLEE
If RMB weakens against US$ MARERETESS
If RMB strengthens against US$ MARERETTER

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FFiR

35.

MEAMEEEERBE @

51 LB
SNERERSRANNBEREHMENTR T
BENARBENARRREEZRERIE
R AEBENIIEEE - ETRKEZR
R A TR IR B SR AT 46 B A 3F DA A< S [ B
BABRINEERSE  MUET BTk
ATIE EAEREH MR -

FEENBERANEREREBRRETE
KEANE B IMNE R IGHI K My 0 LURE R
R\l B BRI IS BT OK T - B E K4
BEITIIERR THEZESZBERE
BT HE MIMNEEIIGX) HHPEXRINER
B o

BRIGADE N B E T BT B T ER G
FREZFHNHRE HNEREERER
(BIEINETTETR) B EEES) -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
foreign in profit
currency rate before tax
SMESEESR BRI AE R
A (FE) 1@, GR)
% RMB’000
ARBTF T

5 27,458

(5) (27,458)
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B M B R R EE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

If RMB weakens against US$
If RMB strengthens against US$

Year ended 31 December 2023

If RMB weakens against EUR
If RMB strengthens against EUR

31 December 2023 —ZF—

=F+_F=+—H

35. MBEKREEBEEREE @

ShEES R @

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease)

foreign in profit

currency rate before tax

SIS [ BRAR A& A

A/ (FER) @, CRiL)

% RMB’000

ARETIT

HE_Z_— &
+ZA=+—HILHFE

MARERETESS 5 26,861
MARERETER (5) (26,861)
Increase/ (Decrease)/

(decrease) in increase

foreign in profit

currency rate before tax

ShEEEER BRI AT

A (FER) Gre2L) /g0

% RMB’000

AR%T

BHE_ZT_"=
+ZRA=+—HLEFE

MAR BB EESS 5 (19,116)
WARETE T TE R (5) 19,116
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

If RMB weakens against EUR
If RMB strengthens against EUR

Year ended 31 December 2023

If RMB weakens against HK$
If RMB strengthens against HK$
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36. MBEEEBEREE®

SM S BB @

Increase/ (Decrease)/

(decrease) in increase

foreign in profit

currency rate before tax

SIS [ BRAR A& A

A/ (FER) CRiZL) /1810

% RMB’000

AREFT

BE_Z__F
+ZA=+—HILHFE

MAREREITESS 5 (1,298)
MARERETER (5) 1,298
Increase/ (Decrease)/

(decrease) in increase

foreign in profit

currency rate before tax

ShEEEER BRZ AT

A (FER) Gri2L) /181

% RMB’000

ARET

BHE_T_”-=
+ZRA=+—HLEFE

WARERETESS 5 (43)
WARERETER (5) 43
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

B M B R R EE
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35. MBEKREEBEEREE @

Foreign currency risk (continued) SMIS LB
Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) in increase
foreign in profit
currency rate before tax
SMBEER BRAR AT e A
L7 (FED CRZL) /181
%o RMB’000
ARBT T

Year ended 31 December 2022 EE—
+TZR=+—HLEE

If RMB weakens against HK$ MARERBITESS 5 (145)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ MARERBTER (5) 145

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group's credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and notes receivables and deposits and
other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount.

Customer credit risk is managed by the Group'’s established
policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit risk
management. Credit quality of customers is assessed through
credit verification procedures.

EERE
EERRSERSF AR RERITERE
MIANERGNAETHEEMERME
BRER cEENEERREERE
R E 7 AR R FE M R R A R 4 & e HLAth
Bl R BEEEERIFIEERR W&
EEFERB -~EENEXREFERNRSE
TEENRERFETESN G

EREERBRAEEEREFREERR
EENMERR B REZEETER-
ERNEEERERERZERFETH
flgo
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. MBREMEEEREREE®
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERRE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging = E R R FE I
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRETEANKTEEEEBRNEEER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, keeAE ZEEBRESREBEARER
which is mainly based on past due information unless other (FRIFEMERBEBMNE RN E R IE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- HENEIER) RN+ A =+—HFAER
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts BN PRy & A TmMEEREARRE
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=f+Z"HA=+—H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8R
BHEE
fi548 2HBMEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F1PRE BPRE HIPRE k(a0
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
N S ARBTT AEBTR ARBTR N S
Trade receivables* EES - - = 373,476 373,476
Notes receivable ~ Normal** ERRE - 189,671 - - - 189,671
Financial assets included in deposits &t AJ8% & E A1 EUFIE
and other receivables NEREE
— Normal** — g 21,209 - - - 21,209
Pledged deposits [REGREEEA
— Not yet past due — i AREE 66,444 - - - 66,444
Other non-current assets HiERBHEE
— Normal** —E=EE 11,800 = = = 11,800
Cash and cash equivalents RERFLEBY
— Not yet past due —HRBH 454,812 - - - 454,812
Total fast 743,936 = = 373,476 1,117,412
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36.

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

B M B R R EE

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+_"F=+—H

MEAMEEEERBE @

EERRE @
S /E R R FAE B (48)

R_E-__F+-B=+—H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=18A
BBEE
B8 SHBREESSR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
Pe & LR F3MEE kbR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT ARBFTT AREFT ARETT
Trade receivables* Jﬁuﬁz%% BETA* - = = 273,073 273,073
Notes receivable ~ Normal** FEWR SRR — = 153,520 - - - 153,520
Financial assets included in deposits uﬂ\ﬁﬁ&ﬁfﬁﬁglﬁﬁﬁ
and other receivable MEREE
— Normal** =TER 12,825 - - - 12,825
Pledged deposits BHEFER
— Not yet past due — i ARE 61,900 - - - 61,900
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY
— Not yet past due —HFREH 467,469 = = = 467,469
Total 3 695,714 - - 273,073 968,787
¢ For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * Bt AR EE B FR A A 1L 75 % T2 L 18 B9 FE

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

o The credit quality of theses financial assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty and by geographical region. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as
the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely
dispersed in different sectors.

EGRAME » BB EEENE % E
R B AN 220

w RETHEBENGEEEZICHE KA
WiRA [IF=) > A B 6 BRI KRS
KX M EENEERREEEIEN -
TR R EENEEEZ SRR R
AR

HRAEEEZEERTREEERTNS
FETRS > RILBBREIRFSRE f%
FRBAREE /HFARMEEE H
RAEREREZEINEEEREZD
BN AR MAEBTEEAEESE
R o
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a

recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the

maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
trade receivables) and projected cash flows from

assets (e.g.,
operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on contractual undiscounted

payments, was as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (excluding lease
liabilities)

Lease liabilities

Dividends payable

Trade and notes payables

Other payables and accruals

Total

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (excluding lease
liabilities)

Lease liabilities

Dividends payable

Trade and notes payables

Other payables and accruals

Total

196

SHERTRAMES
(FEEEEa®)

HEEE

ANiE

WETE%EE TR ENRE
HtENFIBERERER
ezt

gl

SHRRTREMEE
(FafREaR)

HE&E
ERkRE
BRNEZRAKENRE
HftETERRRER
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35. HERAKEEEERBE®
/mEJ &H Iz““
AERRBAKEERHESSE TAER
HERHBNAER ZTAEEZTRASM
TEREREE WEWE SRR BRI
EU'XBZ;EQA E’]fﬁ JEE%/MLEO
T BAERNRRSHAERNEMEETIH
155 FEEHRITRMR -
As at 31 December 2023
RZBZ=F+-B=+-H
Less than 3to12 1to5 More than
On demand 3 months months years 5 years Total
BEX OR=ER =E+ZfEA —Eif SRAE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR
- 270,546 581,169 33,271 - 884,986
175 264 1,175 3,355 3,254 8,223
476 - - - - 476
25,351 550,177 12,123 - - 587,651
98,416 - - - - 98,416
124,418 820,987 594,467 36,626 3254 1,579,752
As at 31 December 2022
RZE_“#+-A=+-H
Less than 3t012 Tto5 More than
On demand 3 months months years 5 years Total
BEX ORZER =E+Z(EA —ERF £k st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR AREFT ARBTr AR®Tz ARET=R
- 249,031 454 554 60,000 - 763,585
- 628 1,718 3,896 3,955 10,197
307 - - - - 307
35,102 322,470 9,524 - - 367,096
149,970 - - - - 149,970
185,379 572,129 465,796 63,896 3,955 1,291,155



35.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group regards total equity as capital and manages
its capital structure and makes adjustment to it in light of
changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the Group’s objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade and notes
payables and other payables, less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital includes total equity. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods were as follows:

35.
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MEAMEEEERBE @

BEHXEE
FEBEAEENEZERARELAER
TRSERRE ) THERRENERLER
UFHEEBZRBRRFIRAER

NREBREREBERABEAREERRELER
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued)

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings (note 25)
Trade and notes payables
Other payables (note 24)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Total equity

Capital and net debt

Gearing ratio

2023 Annual Report —ZE - =FFiR

HERAEESEEEREE @
BEXEE @
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—EB=fF B4
+-—B=+—H +—_HA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
sHRIBfTREHMEE
(Ht5225) 869,526 752,903
RSB Z R ER 587,651 367,096
HAuhpEIwhIE (H1a24) 91,588 141,921
B IRERIREEEY (454,812) (467,469)
B3 58 1,093,953 794,451
TET AR EE 1,589,185 1,487,990
BEARKRERFEE 2,683,138 2,282,441
BELEXR 41% 35%
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. RATIMAFTZARAER
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BERAAABRBERRNMBRARNE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BT

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
—EC=4 =
t=ZA=+t—A +ZHA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ABNKRE 373,363 373,363
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries N ENEIE 283,152 283,152
Other receivables HAE U RIE 4,680 4,360
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESFEY 708 628
Total current assets MENE EARE 288,540 288,140
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEasE
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN ENGIE ] 8,794 45,452
Dividends payable AR 476 307
Total current liabilities M &R AR EE 9,270 45,759
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBIEERE 279,270 242,381
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BELER
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE 652,633 615,744
Net assets BEZE 652,633 615,744
EQUITY gy
Issued capital BEITIRA 6,329 6,329
Reserves (note) =) 646,304 609,415
Total equity R AR R 652,633 615,744
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36.
COMPANY (continued)

TRBEMHRAR @

Note: Byat
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABVEBEEWT
Share  Contributed Treasury Retained
premium surplus shares profits Total
R EE AR E=RR R A st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT  ARETR ARETn ARBTn  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R_Z__F-F—H 269,226 370,213 (13,305) 18,603 044,737
Loss for the year EREE - - - (2,969) (2,969)
Final 2021 dividend declared BER-E--FXHKE - = = (32,353) (32,353
At 31 December 2022 and RIZE_Z&+ZR=1+-Hk
1 January 2023 “2--#—f—f 269,226 370,213 (13,305) (16,719) 609,415
Profit for the year EREH - - - 88,707 88,707
Final 2022 dividend declared BER-_E-__EXRERE - - - (51,818) (51,818)
At31 December 2023 RIB_=F+-RA=1-H 269,226 370,213 (13,305) 20,170 646,304
Contributed surplus AR

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the
shares of Hong Kong Kingdom at the date of the Reorganisation over
the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange
therefor.

37. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 37,
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March
2024.
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